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Report objective
This annual report fulfils Wide Bay Hospital 

and Health Service’s reporting requirements to 

the community and to the Minister for Health. It summarises 

the health service’s results, performance, outlook and 

financial position for 2015/16.

The annual report outlines the health service’s performance 

against key objectives identified in the Wide Bay Hospital 

and Health Service’s strategic planning, and against the 

Queensland Government’s objectives for the community and 

frontline services.

Licence and attribution

This annual report is licensed by the Wide Bay 

Hospital and Health Service under a Creative Commons 

Attribution (CC BY) 3.0 Australian licence.

CC BY Licence Summary Statement

You are free to copy, communicate and adapt 

this annual report provided attribution is given 

to Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service.

To view a copy of this licence visit: 

http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/au/deed.en

Attribution

Content from this annual report should be attributed as: 

Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service 

annual report 2015/16

If you have an enquiry regarding this annual 

report please contact Wide Bay Hospital and 

Health Service on (07) 4150 2020

Public availability statement

This annual report can be viewed on Wide Bay 

Hospital and Health Service website at: 

http://www.health.qld.gov.au/widebay/documents/

annual-report-16.pdf

Hard copies of the annual report can also be obtained 

by phoning the office of the Wide Bay Hospital and 

Health Service Chief Executive on (07) 4150 2020.

Interpreter service statement

The Queensland Government is committed 

to providing accessible services to 

Queenslanders from all culturally and 

linguistically diverse backgrounds. 

If you have difficulty in understanding this annual 

report, you can contact the Wide Bay Hospital and 

Health Service on (07) 4150 2124 or 4122 8607 to assist in 

arranging an interpreter to communicate the report to 

you.
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THE 2015/16 year has been a strong period of consolidation, 
high performance, improving our quality frameworks and 
growing locally-provided services to enable more of our 
patients to receive the best possible care in their own 
backyard. 

At the heart of our achievements and milestones has been the 
consistent and robust vision we set out in our Strategic Plan 
2014–2017, which also aligns closely with the Department 
of Health’s Strategic Objectives and the Queensland 
Government’s Objectives for the Community. Our five 
strategic pledges are:

 ● Delivering sustainable, patient-centred, quality health 
services

 ● Engaging with our communities and partners

 ● Developing and empowering our workforce

 ● Encouraging innovation and excellence

 ● Delivering value of money

Once again we have continued our strong growth in activity, 
performing at more than 4% above the activity level we were 
contracted by Queensland Health to provide. This rested 
largely on the solid increase in emergency department 
presentations, but importantly we were able to maintain 
our elective surgery and improve our Specialist Outpatients 
waiting lists at the same time. As a result of this high 
performance across the board, Queensland Health has 
recognised the greater demands being placed on our service 
and we have negotiated for increased resourcing for the 
2016/17 year. 

It’s a great tribute to the professionalism of our staff that, 
despite this high activity, our performance in key areas 
has been very strong. We have achieved all of our elective 
surgery targets in categories 1, 2 and 3, while our longest wait 
for non-urgent surgery is six months – half the Queensland 
benchmark. In Outpatients, we are exceeding the benchmarks 
in categories 2 and 3 and are only just falling short in 
Category 1, but again this has been in the face of a significant 
rise in patient activity. We continue to be one of the best 
performers in the state on our emergency targets, while 92% 

of patients are off an ambulance stretcher within the clinically 
recommended 30 minutes. 

The growth in Outpatient Telehealth – which saves patients 
significant travel time and reduces our Patient Travel Subsidy 
Scheme (PTSS) costs – has also been a great achievement 
of the past year. In 2015/16 we have seen a year-on-year 
increase of 66%, from 2,250 appointments in 2014/15 to 
3,745 in 2015/16.

The downside of our overperformance of activity was that 
WBHHS finished the 2015/16 year with a $14.1 million deficit, 
which represents 2.6% of our total budget. However, both the 
new service agreement and a Financial Improvement Plan 
focusing on reducing agency staff, overtime and non-labour 
costs will ensure we can meet demand within approved 
funding while not compromising quality outcomes or waiting 
time performance. 

One of the things of which we’re most proud is that access 
to services locally is at an all-time high. We have worked 
hard to provide new and expanded services through local 
partnerships with the private sector. This has led to more 
than 2,000 ophthalmology procedures being carried out in the 
past year, 125 Ear, Nose and Throat procedures, and more 
than 1,300 new cancer patients across the Wide Bay having 
radiation therapy they would otherwise have had to travel to 
Brisbane to receive. 

In fact, overall, the expansion and development of our cancer 
care service has been one of the great success stories of the 
past year. In 2015/16, across the Wide Bay we saw more than 
3,400 new cancer patients in total, and we recruited three 
new staff medical oncologists to expand our team of highly 
qualified local specialists to four. This has given patients 
access not only to the best possible care in their own region, 
but also a much greater continuity of care. July 2015 also saw 
the release of our ambitious Cancer Care Strategic Plan, of 
which a key plank is the “rapid referral” system, guaranteeing 
consultations, diagnosis and treatment within set timeframes. 

We continue to upgrade current facilities and build new ones, 
both to meet current demand and to anticipate the needs of 
the future. The opening of our oral health and cancer care 
centres in Bundaberg and Hervey Bay, costing almost $36 

1Year in review
Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service
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million in combined federal and state funding, was a landmark 
occasion for our HHS and our patients. 

Other significant projects in 2015/16 include:

• Maryborough Hospital – Ward 2 and 3 refurbishments, re-
opening of pathology unit, proceeding to the design stage 
of a mechanical and electrical upgrade

• Bundaberg Hospital – Kitchen upgrades including new 
cold room and freezer

• Helipad upgrades – significant safety improvements at 
Bundaberg, Biggenden and Monto

• Rural facility upgrades – including Gin Gin Hospital 
extension, redesign and refurbishment of Gayndah 
Hospital emergency department, security upgrade at 
Eidsvold Multipurpose Health Service (MPHS), security 
upgrade and refurbishment of Monto Hospital nurses’ 
station

• The installation of new telephony systems and wireless 
coverage across the HHS as we move further into the 
digital world. 

A great deal of design and consultation work has also been 
done in the past year on the new Hervey Bay emergency 
department, which has been too small for its patient demand 
for some years now. The schematic design has now been 
approved by the Department of Health’s Investment Review 
Committee and referred to the Cabinet Budget Review 
Committee, where it requires approval before we can put the 
construction out to tender. 

Safety and quality continues to be our highest priority and we 
have made huge strides in this area throughout 2015/16. Our 
highly experienced Clinical Governance Unit (CGU), which 
incorporates Education and Training, has done a great deal of 
work to ensure our risk management, education and training 
frameworks are all aligned to the national safety standards we 
are measured against. 

This has led to a nationwide-first trial in continuous hospital 
accreditation, in collaboration with the Australian Council 
on Healthcare Standards (ACHS). This trial was approved 
in June 2016 and means we are committed to being 
accreditation ready every day, with little notice from assessors 
prior to audits. This is a marked difference from the current 
four-year accreditation process. Not only do we believe we 
are well prepared for this trial, we also believe staff and 
patients will be the better for it. 

Our excellent safety standards were put on public display 
when we released our first ever Quality of Care Report in 
March 2016. This was the most comprehensive report of 

its kind and showed our above-standard performance on 
measures such as rates of mortality, falls, infection and 
medication error. There were areas needing improvement 
too, but in all cases there has been progress made since the 
relevant reporting period finished.  

Two other great safety achievements have been our 
workplace health and safety program, PRAISE (Positive 
Responsive Actions in Safety Excellence), and our Water 
Quality Risk Management Plan. PRAISE was launched in 
August 2015 in an effort to reduce our work-related injuries 
and encourage our employees to take ownership of safety 
outcomes. In less than a year since its launch, almost 700 
people have completed training workshops and days lost to 
work-related injury have more than halved. 

Our water quality plan has been the result of excellent 
collaboration between our Public Health and Building, 
Engineering and Maintenance teams, and sets out a 
comprehensive regime of water quality testing across the 
HHS. With the State Government passing legislation in 
May 2016 for mandatory legionella reporting, we were in an 
excellent position to comply as a result of this forward-thinking 
work.  

As always, our employees are the beating heart of our 
service, and we would not be this far along our journey 
of improvement without them. We would like to take this 
opportunity to thank every single staff member for their 
tireless contribution to a health service that is proving itself to 
be a statewide leader in many aspects of healthcare.

We would also like to thank our community for providing 
us with valuable consultation and feedback, helping us to 
constantly improve our service delivery. You are at the core of 
our vision of “Improving health, together”. 

Dominic Devine 
Chair  
Wide Bay Hospital  
and Health Board

Adrian Pennington 
Chief Executive 
Wide Bay Hospital  
and Health Service

1
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971,371 patient contacts

115,743 emergency presentations

391,127 outpatient appointments

76,901 people admitted to WBHHS hospitals

3,745 telehealth appointments

27,669 cancer care appointments 

2,011 elective ophthalmology procedures 

79,588 dental visits

62,454 mental health patient contacts

92% off QAS stretcher in less than 30 minutes

Snapshot of 2015/16

4.0%

0.4%

26.9%

2.0%

66.4%

36.1%

New service in 2015/16

0.3%

15.0%

0.2%

2014/15 comparison
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Achievement of the National Elective Surgery 
Target in all categories, with all elective surgical 
waits now below 6 months 

Oral Health Centres opened at Hervey Bay and 
Bundaberg, doubling dental chairs and reducing 
wait times to maximum of 18 months

Multimillion-dollar upgrades to kitchens, helipads, and to 
electrical, communications, water and security systems 
throughout WBHHS facilities

Multimillion-dollar refurbishments and 
extensions to facilities, including Maryborough, 
Gin Gin, Gayndah and Monto 

Expansion of radiation oncology and ophthalmology 
private partnerships, allowing thousands of public 
patients to access local treatment

Development and implementation of Water Quality Risk 
Management Plan, formalising strict water testing regime 
and boosting patient safety

Launch of PRAISE workplace safety program, 
reducing time lost to work-related injuries by 
more than half

New CT scanners commissioned at 
Bundaberg and Hervey Bay, ensuring faster 
diagnosis and lower radiation doses for 
patients

New Maryborough Pathology Unit opened, 
improving turnaround times for urgent blood 
testing

Release of first ever Quality of Care Report, 
reviewing our service standards and enhancing 
public accountability

Launch of Cancer Care Strategic Plan, 
committing to accelerated diagnosis and 
treatment of local patients

Cancer Care Centres opened at Hervey Bay 
and Bundaberg – three new local staff medical 
oncologists recruited and more than 3,400 new 
patients seen locally

Key achievements of 2015/16
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Financial summary

2015/16 in review

Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service ended the 2015-16 
financial year $14.1 million in deficit, which equates to 2.6% of 
our revenue of $532.6 million. 

This is the first operating deficit for WBHHS since it was 
established and reflects significantly increased demand, with 
activity delivered being 4.2% more than we were funded for. 
Activity also increased 8.2% compared to the previous year. 

This increase in activity is in part funded by access to 
Commonwealth growth funding of 45% of the national price, 
however the emergent nature of some of this activity means 
this is often delivered at a high cost through agency medical 
and nursing staff as well as through overtime. 

2016/17: an outlook

The unfunded demand that WBHHS serviced in 2015/16 
has been recognised by the Department of Health, with an 
increase in baseline activity purchased for 2016/17. 

Combined with a Financial Improvement Plan focusing on 
reductions in agency staff, overtime and non-labour costs, the 
new agreement will ensure WBHHS can meet this demand 
within approved funding while maintaining our drive to main-
tain or improve waiting times and meeting and improving on 
key safety and quality measures. 

Financial sustainability remains a key risk to WBHHS and 
we will need to continue to deliver productivity and efficiency 
savings to meet community demand given tightening financial 
pressures nationwide.

WBHHS in numbers

$532.6M
   WBHHS’s total budget in 2015/16

$381.4M
   Employee costs in 2015/16

$1.5M
  Cost per day to run WBHHS

$227M
   WBHHS’s total assets
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$Where the money 
comes from

ABF
$404,557,084 

Block Funded 
Rural Hospitals

$35,381,544 

Community 
Health

$24,108,819 

Patient Travel
$19,181,280 

Oral Health
$18,301,577 

Community 
Mental Health

$18,025,683 

Depreciation
$15,353,430 

Other
$11,146,900 

Where the money goes
(by service type)

Where the money goes
(by expense type)

Where the money goes
(by division)

 

5%

 

12%

 

14%

 

17%

 

21%

 

7%

 

10%

 

14%

 

2%

 

3%
 

3%

 

2%

 

4%

 

4%

 

7%

Employee 
Expenses,  

$381,432,163 

Supplies and 
Services,  

$147,323,010 

Depreciation,  
$15,353,430 

Other Expenses,  
$1,947,711 

 

74%

 

70%

 

27%

 

3%

 

0%

Queensland 
Government
$338,984,847 

Commonwealth 
Contributions
$149,620,328  

28.12%

Other User Fees 
$35,245,322 

6.62%

Other Revenue
and Grants
$8,156,744

 

7%

 

28%

 

64%

 

2%

Division of 
Medicine  

$79,107,398 

Division of 
Surgery  

$91,437,647 

Division of Critical 
Care and 

Emergency  
$114,296,953  

Division of Family 
and Community  

$38,045,403

Operational 
Services  

$54,114,101 

Acute-Other  
$73,929,570

Integrated 
Mental Health  
$29,935,081 

Professional and 
Support Services  

$65,190,200 
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Risk profile

STRENGTHS WEAKNESSES

 ● Consistently strong and sustainable waiting list 
management for elective surgery, specialist outpatients, 
general dental and cancer care led by a commitment to 
clinical pathway development across WBHHS

 ● Improvements to clinical performance in an open and 
accountable manner through our new Quality of Care 
Report released to the general community, media and 
partners

 ● The development of a robust consumer engagement 
process through new Community Reference Groups

 ● A commitment to innovation and service improvement 
across WBHHS management and staff, supported by the 
framework set out in our four-year strategic plan

 ● Expanded cancer and oral health services delivered 
locally

 ● The complexity of integrating three major hospitals and 
eight smaller health facilities into one united health 
service

 ● Ensuring services are delivered to an ageing population 
with acute conditions within national efficient prices

 ● Recruitment and retention of our staff, especially due to 
the cost of locums

 ● Ageing infrastructure and limited space inhibiting the 
expansion of services

OPPORTUNITIES THREATS

 ● Increasing use of Telehealth is keeping patients closer to 
home, improving health outcomes and reducing the cost 
of the Patient Travel Subsidy Scheme

 ● Clinical Redesign and service reconfiguration improving 
the delivery of care to patients

 ● Health promotion and communications strategies 
that encourage public health messages, lowering the 
incidences of chronic disease and hospital admission 
within our local communities

 ● Ongoing training and education programs to upskill our 
workforce

 ● Better communication with primary and aged care 
providers, enabling WBHHS to manage demand and 
reduce pressure on our beds

 ● An ageing and low socio-economic population with 
high levels of acute conditions and chronic diseases 
increasing demand on local public health services

 ● Managing community expectations about access to a 
comprehensive range of free health services

 ● A fragmented primary care and community care sector 
creating additional pressure on public health services

 ● Natural disasters creating unpredictable situations that 
pressure our service capacity 
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Challenges and opportunities

KEY CHALLENGES STRATEGIC RISK OPPORTUNITIES

Increasing demand for services

We continue to experience greater 
demand for our health services as 
our population ages and our lifestyle 
choices impact our health

Impact of population growth, 
demographics, increased life 
expectancy and a growing burden of 
disease

Clinical redesign, service 
reconfiguration, technology, demand 
management strategies and clinical 
pathways jointly developed with the 
primary care and aged care sectors 
particularly for chronic disease

Community expectations

Improve community understanding of 
the safest and most sustainable way to 
provide health services in regional and 
rural communities

Ongoing access to a full range of free 
hospital and health services 24 hours a 
day and seven days a week throughout 
the WBHHS

Create a more inclusive environment 
through the Wide Bay Community 
Engagement Strategy, Media and 
Communications Unit, Community 
Reference Groups and Primary Health 
Networks to report on Strategic Plan 
progress

Financial pressures

Health Services across Australia 
are required to responsibly manage 
services within finite resources

Ability to maintain budget integrity, 
increase revenue and deliver services 
within a national efficient price

Delivery of balanced financial position 
to surplus by implementing the Wide 
Bay Financial Recovery Roadmap

Workforce

The capacity, capability and culture 
of our workforce helps determine the 
quality of the services we offer

Ability to build capacity and capability 
through the recruitment and retention of 
suitably skilled staff

Development and implementation of an 
innovative workforce plan

Infrastructure

To maintain and design infrastructure 
in accessible locations that meet local 
service demands

Limited capacity and location of existing 
buildings, equipment and ICT systems 
and their impact on ability to introduce 
new and advanced technologies/
services

Manage structural inefficiencies 
through service reconfiguration, 
relocation, improved integration of 
regional and rural services, public/
private partnerships and other 
strategies outlined in the WBHHS Asset 
Management Plan

Natural disasters

Our ability to react to and manage 
the impact of natural disaster and 
emergency events is crucial to our 
sustainability

High exposure and vulnerability of 
hospital and health services to natural 
disasters and their impact on service 
delivery

Active participation in the 
implementation of the Wide Bay 
Disaster Management Strategy
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Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service (WBHHS) is the major 
provider of health services, health education and research for 
the Bundaberg, Fraser Coast, North Burnett and parts of the 
Gladstone local government areas. Our vision and purpose 
set the framework for how we work with our community to 
improve their health and wellbeing. They also describe how 
we align with the Queensland Government’s 10-year health 
strategic plan, My health, Queensland’s future: Advancing 
health 2026, and how we embody the Queensland Govern-
ment’s objectives for the community.    

Our vision
Our vision is Improving health, together.  

As set out in our Strategic Plan 2014–2017, we aim to 
achieve this vision through the following pledges:

Our purpose
Our purpose is to be a provider of patient-centred, high-quali-
ty, innovative and cost-effective health care by engaging with 
our community and developing our highly skilled workforce. 

Our role and function
The WBHHS is a statutory body responsible for the delivery of 

public hospital and health services to more than 210,000 res-
idents of the Wide Bay region. It is accountable through the 
Wide Bay Hospital and Health Board to the Minister of Health 
for local performance, delivering local priorities and meeting 
state and national standards. 

The WBHHS is subject to the Hospital and Health Boards Act 
2011, the Hospital and Health Boards Regulation 2012, the 
Financial Accountability Act 2009 and the Statutory Bodies 
Financial Arrangements Act 1982. 

The WBHHS’s main functions in accordance with the Act are 
to deliver hospital and health services, teaching, research and 
other services as stated in the Service Agreement with the 
System Manager (Department of Health). 

Other key functions of the WBHHS include: 

 ● Providing public health services and health education in 
the Wide Bay region 

 ● Ensuring our services are carried out efficiently, effectively 
and economically 

 ● Contributing to and implementing relevant statewide plans 
including the implementation of national clinical standards 

 ● Ensuring rigorous local clinical governance that focuses on  
quality improvement, a “do no harm” culture, clinician and 
consumer engagement, and staff education and empow-
erment

 ● Undertaking approved minor and major capital works, 
maintenance of land, buildings and other assets 

 ● Co-operating with other providers of health services, 
including other HHSs, the Department of Health and pro-
viders of primary health care in planning for and delivering 
health services 

 ● Collaborating with local primary health care organisations 
including Primary Health Networks 

 ● Consulting with health professionals, health consumers 
and members of the community about the provision of 
health services 

 ● Delivery of other health functions approved by the Minister 
for Health and Ambulance Services. 

Engaging with our communities and partners

Encouraging innovation and excellence

Delivering sustainable, patient centred, 
quality health services

Developing and empowering our workforce

Delivering value for money

2

4

1

3

5

2       Our organisation
Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service
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The WBHHS provides acute inpatient, 
outpatient, mental health, oral health 
and a range of specialist, community 
and outreach services. 
 
Regional hospitals 

Beds Alternative 
beds

Bundaberg 
Hospital

195 44

Hervey Bay 
Hospital

138 26

Maryborough 
Hospital

82 12

Alternative beds include short-stay 
unit beds, chemotherapy chairs, renal 
dialysis chairs and discharge lounge 
chairs. 

Rural facilities
Beds

Biggenden Multi-purpose 
Health Service 

18 

Childers Multi-purpose 
Health Service 

20 

Eidsvold Multi-purpose 
Health Service 

11 

Gayndah Hospital 12 
Gin Gin Hospital 6 

Monto Hospital 14 
Mundubbera Multi-purpose 
Health Service

18 

Mount Perry Health Centre -

 ● Speciality services 
 ● Acute pain management 
 ● Alcohol and other drug services 
 ● Allied health 
 ● Anaesthetics 
 ● Breast screen 
 ● Cancer care 
 ● Cardiology 
 ● Colorectal surgery 
 ● Community Health 
 ● Community Hospital Interface 

Program, Hospital in the Home
 ● Coronary care 
 ● Critical care 
 ● Emergency medicine 
 ● ENT surgery 
 ● Gastroenterology 
 ● General medicine 
 ● General surgery 
 ● Gerontology 
 ● Gynaecology 
 ● Indigenous health services 
 ● Intensive care 
 ● Internal medicine 
 ● Medical imaging including computer 

tomography 
 ● Medical oncology 
 ● Mental health services 
 ● Obstetrics 
 ● Offender health 
 ● Palliative care 
 ● Ophthalmology 
 ● Oral health and oral surgery 
 ● Orthopaedics 
 ● Paediatrics 
 ● Pathology 
 ● Pharmacy 
 ● Public Health 
 ● Radiation oncology 
 ● Rehabilitation 
 ● Renal dialysis 
 ● School health 
 ● Sexual health 
 ● Specialist Outpatients 
 ● Transition Care Program 
 ● Urology 
 ● Women’s and Children’s health 

 
 
 

Our partners

The WBHHS partners with various ex-
ternal organisations to supplement and 
support the health services to the Wide 
Bay community.

WBHHS serves a population of about 210,000 people 
over a geographical area of approximately 37,000 square 
kilometres.  Demographically, it is a high-needs area given its 
comparatively low socio-economic status and high proportion 
of elderly people. The region is also growing relatively quickly. 
In the past 10 years, the Fraser Coast region has grown by 
23% and the Bundaberg region has grown by 14% (compared 
to 17% for Queensland). 

Other key demographic details include: 

 ● Population projected to increase to more than 300,000 
within the next 25 years 

 ● High numbers of elderly residents – 25% of our total 
population are over 65 years of age (13% for Queensland 
and highest for an HHS in Queensland)

 ● Lowest proportion of people aged between 20 and 44 years 
in Queensland 

 ● 83% of our residents fall in the most disadvantaged socio-
economic quintiles one and two (second highest HHS in 
Queensland) 

 ● 3.6% of the population is indigenous (equal to Queensland 
rate) 

 ● 7.6% of the population is in “need of assistance” with a core 
activity as a result of a profound or severe disability (4.4% 
for Queensland)

 ● The median total personal income was $21,164 with more 
than 45% of the population having an income of less than 
$20,800 (median total personal income for Queensland 
$30,524) 

 ● 38.7% with the highest level of schooling as Year 11 or 12 
(55.3% for Queensland) 

 ● The unemployment rate as at the December quarter 2015 
was 10.2% (6.3% for Queensland)  

 ● 23.6% of families where parents are not working (13.5% for 
Queensland)

Our services

Key demographics

References
1. Australian Bureau of Statistics – Regional Population Growth Australia 2014-15 (latest 

issue released March 2016).
2. Queensland Treasury and Trade – Queensland Regional Profiles, Wide Bay (as at June 

2016)
3. Wide Bay Population Health Commissioning Atlas, 2013
4. Public Health Information Development Unit – Social Health Atlas of Australia, 2013
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Bay
Hervey 

MaryboroughBiggenden

Childers

Bundaberg

Gin Gin

Mount Perry

Monto

Eidsvold

Gayndah
Mundubbera

Miriam Vale

Central Queensland HHS

Darling Downs HHS Sunshine Coast HHS

Hospital Health centre

Agnes Water

Tiaro

Wide Bay Hospital 
and Health Service 

area

Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service area

The WBHHS incorporates the North Burnett, Bundaberg and Fraser Coast Local Government 
areas and part of Gladstone Regional Council (Miriam Vale – Agnes Water) covering a 
geographical area of about 37,000 square kilometres.



17Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service Annual Report 2015-2016

Organisation structure

Board

Executive Committee

Finance Committee

Safety & Quality Committee

Audit & Risk Committee

Board Chair

Chief Executive

Board Secretary

Deputy Chief Executive

Executive Director of Finance and Performance

Executive Director of Clinical Governance

Executive Director of Human Resources

District Director of Medical Services

Director of Contracts & Contestability

Chief Operating Officer

Executive Director of Mental Health  
Alcohol & Other Drugs Services

Executive Director of  Nursing 
and Midwifery Services

Director of Infrastructure and Assets

Ad hoc attendees dependent on agenda

Director of Public Health
Director of Communications 

 and Corporate Affairs

Dominic Devine

Adrian Pennington

Dr Pieter Pike

John Clerke

Scott McConnel Debbie Carroll

Robyn Bradley
Dr Pieter Pike

Peter Heinz

Fiona Sewell

Christina Ongley

Dr Greg Coffey

David Yule

Dr Margaret Young

Peter Heath
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Our Board

Nominee Position Term of current appointment

Dominic Devine Chair 17/05/2018 

Barbara Hovard Deputy Chair 17/05/2017

Gary Kirk Board Member 17/05/2017

Christopher Hyne Board Member 17/05/2017

Joy Jensen Board Member 17/05/2017

Paul Dare Board Member 17/05/2017

Bryan Burmeister Board Member 17/05/2018

George Plint Board Member 17/05/2018

Peta Jamieson Board Member 17/05/2020

Board members
Dominic Devine
Chairman
Appointed June 16, 2013

Dominic is a Bundaberg-based businessman who has had significant experience on numerous 
business, community and industry boards.

He is married to Tracey and has two daughters, and their family lives in the Bundaberg region.

Dominic spent his childhood and school years in Bundaberg. Prior to moving back home to 
Bundaberg in 2010, he spent almost 20 years living in Charleville developing his business.

Dominic is a qualified valuer and is the senior partner at Leichardt Group, a firm he established 
in 1993 in Charleville with his wife. Leichardt Group is a specialised agricultural advisory and 
accounting practice with offices in Brisbane, Charleville, Roma and Mackay.

During the past 20 years, he has served on numerous business, community and industry boards 
and has been a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors since 2006.

Dominic has always been passionate about being involved in important community issues such as 
health, education and regional development.
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Barbara Hovard OAM
Deputy Chair
Appointed June 29, 2012

Barbara has a long history of local and state government experience in the Wide Bay region. She 
has served on the Maryborough City Council as well as the newly amalgamated Fraser Coast 
Regional Council, and was formerly employed by Queensland Health working both in Community 
Health and at Maryborough Hospital.

Barbara’s 15-year service in local government included seven years as a councillor with 
Maryborough City Council, one term as Mayor, and one term as a councillor on the newly 
amalgamated Fraser Coast Regional Council.  She did not seek re-election in 2012 due to her 
decision to retire.

Before commencing a career in local government, Barbara spent more than 20 years providing 
aged, community and hospital-based care to the people of Maryborough and Wide Bay including 
periods with the Blue Nurses and managing the Fair Haven Retirement Village.  

She was awarded a Bachelor of Business in 1996 while employed by Queensland Health and an 
Order of Australia Medal in 2015 for her work in local government and the community.   

In retirement, Barbara remains busy through volunteering.

Gary Kirk
Board Member; Chair, Audit & Risk Committee
Appointed June 1, 2012

Gary has almost 40 years’ experience in the public education system in Queensland as a school 
teacher and later as principal until his retirement in 2010. He has contributed to the community for 
nearly two decades. 

Gary has taught students and guided teachers in the Queensland public education system, both 
in country and city settings including Bundaberg and Surat.

As a member of the Queensland Association of State School Principals (QASSP) for 20 years, 
he held the positions of Branch President, Secretary and Treasurer as well as supporting the 
organisation’s aims to support, develop and strengthen educational leadership capabilities to 
improve outcomes for state school students in Queensland.

Gary and his wife Elaine were involved in the local tourism industry for several years, operating 
Baffle Retreat Bed and Breakfast, located in Winfield, until 2015.

Gary has also contributed to the community through his membership of Rotary International. He 
was involved in Rotary Club of Bundaberg Sunrise for 17 years, firstly as a member, and later 
Service Director and President. 

Gary was appointed an Ambassadorial Speaker by the Prostate Cancer Foundation of Australia 
and has travelled throughout rural Queensland educating men about prostate cancer.
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Joy Jensen
Board Member; Chair, Safety & Quality Committee
Appointed May 18, 2013

Joy has the unique distinction of having been the last Mayor of the Perry Shire and the first Mayor 
of the North Burnett Regional Council. Her background is in rural industry, namely cattle and hors-
es, and rural communities.

Joy lives west of Mt Perry, where she is a partner in a family-owned and operated beef cattle and 
horse breeding enterprise.

She currently chairs the Wide Bay Hospital and Health Board’s Safety and Quality Committee. 

Over many years, Joy has contributed in an executive role to a variety of community groups from 
P&C and sporting clubs to care service providers. She is currently the secretary of Mt Perry Race 
Club and a member of AgForce. 

Elected to local government in 2000, Joy was appointed Deputy Mayor of Perry Shire and was 
elected unopposed as Mayor four years later, steering the ship through the testing waters of pre-
paring for the Queensland Local Government Reform process.  

In 2008, she was elected Mayor of the newly amalgamated North Burnett Regional Council and 
demonstrated her ability to work and lead a team through this challenging time. Improving the 
financial rating within its first term is something she sees as a major achievement for the council. 

Joy believes access to a high-quality, safe health service is an entitlement of every Queenslander 
and is keen to ensure health services in the Wide Bay are appropriate and effective.

Christopher Hyne
Board Member; Chair, Finance Committee
Appointed May 18, 2013

Christopher has a long and successful history in the business, industry and community sectors, 
both in the Wide Bay and across Queensland. He was born in Maryborough in 1945, educated in 
Toowoomba and Brisbane, and has lived in Ferney, south of Maryborough, since 1980. 

Aside from his Wide Bay Hospital and Health Board commitments, Christopher is a Board director 
and chair of several committees for Hyne Timber, Australia’s largest privately owned and operated 
timber manufacturing company. He is also a Director of the Australian Forest Products Association. 

Throughout his career, Christopher held a series of senior positions with Hyne Timber including 
Branch Mills Manager, Marketing Manager and Business Development Manager. Christopher 
has also previously held a wide range of Board roles over the years. These include: Chairman 
– Bassett Barks Pty Ltd; Director – Charles Porter and Sons Pty Ltd; Director – Nanum Tawap 
Ltd (Weipa); Chairman – Pine and Hardwood Divisions of the Queensland Timber Board; Depu-
ty Chairman – Queensland Timber Board; and Chairman – Timber Research and Development 
Advisory Council.

Christopher is a Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. His formal qualifications 
include a Diploma in Marketing from the University of Singapore and a Bachelor of Science from 
the University of Queensland. 
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Paul Dare
Board Member 
Appointed May 18, 2013

Paul has had a successful career in the military and business world, and is currently pastoring a 
rural church in Mundubbera.

Paul has two adult children. He spent his childhood in rural Tasmania, followed by 20 years in the 
Australian Army, during which time he completed a trade in electronics. 

In 1989 he attended the Royal Military College Duntroon and, on graduation, served in the Army’s 
aviation division as an aerospace engineer and logistics manager. He left the Army to pursue a 
career in the aviation field. Paul spent six years working for Sikorsky Australia – the manufacturer 
of the Blackhawk and Sea Hawk helicopters – as its Australian Defence Force customer service 
manager and engineering manager.

In 2007 he changed direction and undertook studies to become a pastor within Queensland 
Baptists, leading him to his current pastoring role in Mundubbera. Paul has a passion for people 
and wants the best to be brought out in everyone he meets, as well as the best for the Wide Bay-
Burnett as a whole.

Paul has the following formal qualifications: MBA (Technology Management), MDiv, Grad Dip 
Ministry and BEng (Aerospace).

Prof Bryan Burmeister
Board Member 
Appointed May 18, 2014

Bryan is an oncologist based at the Princess Alexandra Hospital in Brisbane. He also practises in 
the private sector and at Hervey Bay Hospital. 

Since 1997 he has been on the staff of the Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Queensland, 
where he is involved in teaching medical students and supervising clinical research.

Bryan is frequently invited to speak at both national and international meetings and has a major 
interest in clinical trials involving new radiation technologies, melanoma and oesophageal cancer. 
His research achievements in the past six years include being a principal or co-investigator on 
more than 25 clinical trials and projects, a number of which have been awarded funding by the 
Australian National Health and Medical Research Council.

Bryan has more than 25 proffered papers at learned society meetings and has published more 
than 125 papers in peer-reviewed journals. After obtaining his basic medical degree in 1976, he 
successfully graduated in his Doctor of Medicine (MD) at the University of Queensland in 2008. 
He also has a strong involvement in serving the professional community and has received several 
awards for his service.

Bryan was the President of the Trans-Tasman Radiation Oncology Group from 2007 – 2012 
and was Deputy Chair of the Medical and Scientific Advisory Committee of Cancer Council 
Queensland from 2008 – 2015. He is the current Chair of the Australian and New Zealand Mela-
noma Trials Group. 
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Peta Jamieson
Board Member  
Appointed June 26, 2015

Peta has more than 20 years’ experience with the Queensland Government, Brisbane City Council 
and the Local Government Association of Queensland (LGAQ), and is the director of her own 
management consultancy. 

She has a breadth of both executive and operational experience, and a clear understanding of 
how government, its policies, and processes work. 

Peta is a strong advocate for the Bundaberg and Wide Bay-Burnett Region. She actively works 
with community, commercial and government bodies such as the Wide Bay-Burnett Regional 
Organisation of Councils, Starfire Solutions and North Burnett Regional Council on a range of local 
and regional projects and initiatives. 

Peta is also a Director on the Gladstone Ports Corporation Board and a member of its Human 
Resources Committee, and is an Executive Member of the St Luke’s Anglican School Parents and 
Friends Association.

George Plint
Board Member 
Appointed May 18, 2014

George is currently the Deputy Director of Clinical Services for the Sunshine Coast Hospital and 
Health Service. 

He moved to the Sunshine Coast in 2014 to take up the position of Service Director of Integrated 
Mental Health Services, prior to which he was the Executive Director of the Integrated Mental 
Health, Alcohol and Other Drugs Service for the WBHHS. 

George completed his psychiatric nurse training at Baillie Henderson Hospital, Toowoomba, in 
1982 and his general nursing training at Gold Coast Hospital in 1986. He later completed his 
Bachelor of Nursing Degree from the University of Southern Queensland, his Graduate Diploma 
in Community Mental Health from the University of Queensland, and his Graduate Certificate in 
Health Service Management from the Queensland University of Technology. 

George established and managed the Fraser Coast Mental Health Service in 1999. He has 
worked across a range of health settings associated with general and psychiatric nursing as 
well as extensive experience in aged care nursing, the Red Cross Blood Service and community 
mental health case management. 

George’s areas of interest include service development and health promotion.
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Our executive team

Adrian has more than 38 years’ healthcare experience, 
more than half of which has been at executive and senior 
management levels – both within acute hospitals and leading 
national programs within the United Kingdom’s National 
Health Service (NHS).

During Adrian’s career, he has managed every department 
within a hospital including support services. 

His previous employment includes Chief Executive Officer of 
the James Paget University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
and Chief Executive of NHS Heart Improvement.

The latter role saw him head up a national heart disease 
program for seven years, during which time mortality figures 
reduced from 130,000 to 68,000 per year. He also led 
clinical redesign work, including the introduction of clinical 
microsystems, using the Lean Six Sigma methodology. 

While CEO at the James Paget University Hospitals, Adrian 
raised the profile of the Trust to being commensurate with 
University Hospital status. 

During that time he also oversaw the first six-week, one-stop 
pathway across all specialities from GP referral to surgical 
event; delivered a surplus financial position performance 

exceeding 15% of annual turnover; and achieved the highest 
possible quality recognition from the Healthcare Commission.

He published “How to avoid a CDiff outbreak in healthcare”, 
which became a national reference guide for all hospitals in 
England, and won the cleanest hospital of the year award in 
2008. 

Adrian has also previously acted as an adviser to the Minister 
of Health in British Columbia to develop a strategy for health 
redesign for the province. 

His last role before joining WBHHS was as National Director 
of the NHS’s Quality Accounts division. During this time he led  
the introduction of the legislative requirement for all health 
providers in England, including in the independent sector, 
to produce an annual quality account – a critical clinical 
governance tool reporting on standards of care and safety. 

Adrian has more than 60 published documents recognised 
internationally and has presented in many countries including 
the United States, Canada, Czech, Finland, Australia and 
New Zealand. He has lectured for Harvard and Stanford 
universities on topics including process improvement 
activity and developing strategies for country-wide service 
improvement. 

Prof Adrian Pennington
Chief Executive
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Pieter is a specialist urgent-care physician and medical 
administrator with more than 30 years’ healthcare experience 
in Australia and internationally, more than 20 years of which 
have been at director and executive level. 

He completed his Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of 
Surgery in 1983, with distinctions in Obstetrics, Gynaecology 
and Surgery, at Pretoria University Medical School, South 
Africa, and spent the next decade practising in primary, 
secondary and tertiary care in South Africa, England and New 
Zealand. 

In 1994, Pieter embarked on a health service management 
path, drawing on his extensive clinical experience as he built 
a strong reputation for innovation, strategic planning, systems 
thinking and change management. 

He has previously been appointed as external medical 
adviser to the New Zealand Health and Disability 
Commissioner, external auditor for NZ urgent care medical 
centres, and external examiner both for Auckland University 
and the Australasian College of Health Service Executives.  

Pieter joined WBHHS in 2013 as Executive Director of 
Clinical Governance and, in 2015, was also appointed Deputy 
Chief Executive. He has been instrumental in strengthening 
WBHHS’s clinical governance frameworks and clinical risk 
management, and he is in the process of implementing a 
nationwide-first pilot to move to a system of continuous health 
service compliance as an alternative to the current cyclical 
accreditation survey. 

Pieter has presented and been published across the world, 
and was invited to teach Strategic Health Management at 
Massey University’s Business School.

He is a Fellow of the Australasian College of Medical 
Administrators, a Fellow of the College of Healthcare 
Executives a Fellow of the New Zealand College of Urgent 
Care Physicians, and has a Masters degree, with distinction, 
in Business Studies.

Dr Pieter Pike 
Deputy Chief Executive, 
Executive Director of  
Clinical Governance 

Deborah has worked in public health for more than 35 years 
and has held leadership roles across a number of health 
facilities throughout Queensland. She has undertaken 
significant postgraduate studies including a Masters of Health 
Administration and Information Systems and a Graduate 
Certificate in Health Service Planning. 

Deborah completed her general nurse training in 1981 at 
Mackay Base Hospital, where she was acknowledged both 
for outstanding theoretical knowledge and nursing care. 

She later gained a Bachelor of Health Science (Nursing) with 
Distinction from Central Queensland University in 1995, a 
Graduate Diploma in Emergency Nursing and endorsement 
as a Rural and Isolated Practice registered nurse. 

Deborah held several senior positions in north and central 
Queensland health services, in which she oversaw the 
introduction of new models of care and the successful 
completion of several large capital works projects. As 
District Nursing Director of the Clinical Improvement Unit in 
Rockhampton, she established the first Clinical Governance, 
Risk and Quality Unit in regional Queensland. 

Deborah has worked for the Wide Bay Hospital and Health 
Service since 2006 and has been Chief Operating Officer 
since 2014, overseeing the introduction of several new 
services and improvements in access, wait times and patient 
flow. 

In 2008, she was awarded a Queensland Health Australia 
Day Award for exceptional leadership and restoring 
community confidence, and again in 2014 for her exceptional 
leadership during the 2013 floods.

Deborah Carroll
Chief Operating Officer
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Robyn has worked in health management roles for almost 20 
years, and has held management and executive leadership 
positions both in Wide Bay and South West Queensland. 

She completed her degree in Occupational Therapy at Curtin 
University, Western Australia, in 1990 and has subsequently 
engaged in further studies towards her masters in Health 
Management. 

Robyn has presented papers both on mental health and 
allied health at national and international conferences on rural 
models of care for Mental Health services. She is passionate 
about driving access and equity, and developing a community 
approach that acknowledges and supports the pathway to 
recovery for mental health consumers. 

Robyn has been instrumental in leading collaborations with 
partners such as the Primary Health Network and non-
government service providers to better target and deliver 
services.

One of her key achievements has been developing and 
employing consumers with a lived experience, which  has led 
to the important development of a peer support workforce 
in the commissioning of a new Community Care Unit at 
Bundaberg. 

Peter has worked within the public service, both at the federal 
and state level, for almost 30 years, holding a variety of senior 
posts in both sectors. 

He was appointed Executive Director of Human Resource 
Services in April 2016, after acting in the role since February 
2014. Prior to this, he was Human Resources Manager for 
Bundaberg and North Burnett for four years. 

Peter has previously been employed in a range of senior 
and principal HR roles with the Department of Employment, 
Economic Development and Innovation; the Department 

of Tourism, Regional Development and Industry; and the 
Environmental Protection Agency. 

His other roles in the public sector have been with the 
Department of Defence, where he held positions in 
the Defence Signals Directorate, Defence Intelligence 
Organisation and with the Royal Australian Navy. 

Peter has overseen the highly successful introduction of the 
PRAISE workplace safety program, which has boosted the 
HHS’s safety culture and led to a significant reduction in work-
related injuries, lost work time and insurance costs. 

Robyn Bradley
Executive Director of  
Mental Health, Alcohol and  
Other Drugs Service

Scott McConnel
Executive Director of  
Finance and Performance 

Peter Heinz
Executive Director Human Resource Services

Scott is a qualified accountant and senior executive with 
more than 20 years’ experience across a diverse range of 
industries in the private and public sectors, both in Australia 
and internationally.  He has a strong track record of leading 
continuous improvement and driving change, and in strategic 
planning for sustainability.

Scott completed a Bachelor of Commerce degree with first-
class honours in 1994 and was accepted into the prestigious 
BHP Billiton four-year graduate program, before spending 
seven years working in London’s financial services industry at 
senior and director level. 

As Corporate Services Manager of the Mining Industry Skills 
Centre, Scott playing a leading role in change management, 
staff mentoring and developing frameworks for commercial 
sustainability.

He joined Queensland Health in 2011, leading a $40 million 
turnaround from deficit to surplus as Chief Finance Officer 
at Darling Downs HHS, and has been WBHHS Executive 
Director for Finance and Performance since December 2015. 

Scott is a member of Certified Practicing Accountants 
Australia and a Graduate of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.
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Margaret is a physician with more than 30 years’ experience 
in specialist public health, hospital and general medicine. 

She graduated from medical school in 1983 and worked in 
hospital-based medicine and general practice in Australia 
before working as a volunteer in Cambodia in the early to 
mid 1990s. There she began to develop skills, knowledge 
and understanding of the contribution to health outcomes of 
the environment, socio-economic circumstances, literacy and 
education, as well as the impact of personal behaviours. 

Margaret turned this interest into a new career path, 
completing her training in public health medicine in 2001 and 
later working at the Communicable Disease Unit in Brisbane 
and the Gold Coast Public Health Unit before moving to the 
Wide Bay 10 years ago. 

She has led the Wide Public Health Unit as Director since 
2013, in which time she has overseen the development of a 
Water Quality Risk Management Plan widely recognised as 
a best practice model for health facilities. She continues to 
contribute to disease control and immunisation strategies by 
participating in state and national forums.

Margaret provided exceptional leadership and community 
guidance through the 2013 floods, especially around disease 
prevention and the impact of environmental factors. 

Fiona has more than 25 years’ experience in nursing, 
completing her training at Maryborough Base Hospital in 1990 
before gaining further experience in other Queensland public 
and private healthcare facilities. 

She moved back to the Wide Bay region in 1994, joining 
Bundaberg Hospital as a registered nurse. Since then her 
career trajectory has carried her swiftly through a diverse 
range of senior nursing roles at both clinical and managerial 
levels. 

Fiona has successfully completed studies in the areas of 
Orthopaedic Nursing, Emergency Nursing, Investigations 
Management and Report Writing, and has a postgraduate 
certificate in Health Leadership, Management and Quality. 

She was awarded a Queensland Health Australia Day Award 
for exceptional leadership during the 2013 Bundaberg floods. 

In October 2015, Fiona oversaw the highly successful 
WBHHS Nursing and Midwifery Symposium, a first of its kind 
in Wide Bay which attracted almost 180 nurses and featured 
more than 40 presentations focused on patient care and 
innovation.

Greg has almost 40 years’ experience working in medicine 
both in the public and private sectors. 

Greg first qualified as a Medical Officer from Sydney 
University in 1977 and worked in Adelaide for 15 years. He 
has since worked elsewhere in Australia and internationally 
in various roles including in general practice and emergency 
medicine on land and at sea; as a Medical Advisor in West 
Papua; Co-ordinator of General Practice Training; and 
numerous positions as Director of Medical Services in the 
public and private sectors throughout Queensland. 

Since he joined Queensland Health in 2006, Greg has been 

responsible for overseeing all aspects of medical services, 
including financial management, credentialing and HR issues, 
and the implementation of telehealth services in rural and 
remote Queensland. 

In 2015 he oversaw the successful introduction within 
WBHHS of workplace-based assessments, a Queensland first 
program that assesses international medical graduates over a 
12-month period and improves staff recruitment and retention. 

Greg has a keen interest in ensuring that patient safety is 
maintained through strict attention to clinical and corporate 
governance while maximising service delivery. 

Fiona Sewell
Executive Director of Nursing Services

Dr Margaret Young
Director of Public Health 

Dr Greg Coffey
District Director of Medical Services 

Professional directors
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David has more than 40 years’ healthcare experience, 
26 years of which have been at executive and senior 
management levels within metropolitan and regional health 
services across Queensland.

His appointments have included Manager of the Royal 
Children’s Hospital, Brisbane; Assistant Regional Director, 
Peninsula and Torres Strait Regional Health Authority; 
Executive Director of Corporate Services at Rockhampton 
and Cairns Health Services; and District Manager, Mackay 
Health Service District, as well as numerous special project 
roles within Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service. 

David has extensive experience with change management, 
strategic and tactical procurement initiatives, including public/
private partnerships and strategic divestments. 

He has managed and led key capital works projects across a 
number of Queensland health services. 

David has a special interest in development, implementation 
and compliance with governance frameworks. 

Peter has worked for Queensland Health in management 
roles for more than 26 years. In that time he has held several 
senior and executive positions including roles in board 
management, finance, human resources, procurement, and 
information technology. 

Peter has a business degree in Operations Management 
and Information Technology, and his current portfolio at 
WBHHS includes capital works projects, building, engineering 
and maintenance services, local IT systems, and asset 
management. 

He has special interests in building services and IT 
infrastructure, and has developed his current role to improve 
integration between building design, maintenance and IT 
systems. 

Peter has provided strong leadership on WBHHS capital 
works programs, ensuring value for money and efficient 
functional performance of building assets. 

Christina has more than 17 years’ experience as a media 
professional in Australia and internationally, spending much of 
her career in print and digital media. 

She completed a Bachelor of Arts with a double major in 
journalism in 1998, and spent the next 10 years working in 
a variety of reporting and leadership roles at the Bundaberg 
NewsMail and the multi-edition Echo newspaper in Essex, 
UK. She also was a freelance writer for overseas publications, 
including The Guardian. 

Christina worked in media relations in the government and 

non-profit sectors on her return to Australia, before rejoining 
the NewsMail as editor in 2009 and later holding a series of 
senior management and group editorial roles with its parent 
company APN. She joined WBHHS in January 2016. 

Christina has won a national Walkley Award for her part in 
covering the Childers Backpacker Fire in 2000, was a finalist 
in the PANPA Newspaper of the Year awards in 2012, and 
holds a Certificate IV in Frontline Management.

Peter Heath
Director of Infrastructure and Assets

David Yule
Director of Contracts and Contestability 

Christina Ongley
Director of Communications and Corporate Affairs
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3            Our people
Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service

The Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service has clearly set out 
its workforce planning objectives in its Strategic Plan 2014–
2017, whose vision is “Improving health, together”.

We recognise that having engaged, motivated and educated 
employees is the key to delivering high-quality, patient-
centred and sustainable healthcare. Our key objectives are to:

 ● Create a high-performing workplace culture that supports 
positive and respectful behaviours, accountability and 
great customer service 

 ● Become a centre of excellence for learning and 
development to ensure our staff are both capable and 
competent to meet service needs 

 ● Develop and implement new workforce models to 
sustainably improve patient access and quality of care. 

The pledges in WBHHS’s Strategic Plan also complement the 
Queensland Public Service values: 

 ● Customers first 

 ● Ideas into action 

 ● Unleash potential 

 ● Be courageous 

 ● Empower people.

As required by the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994, the Code 
of Conduct in Queensland Public Service has been in place 
since 2011 and applies to all health service employees.
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Our workforce at a glance

Workforce Snapshot

 

3,551 
staff

 
478 

new employees  
in 2015-16

 

66% 
of employees are 

in clinical roles

Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service’s workforce is made up 
of 3,551 employees who, through their many and varied roles, 
all contribute to our journey of consistent improvement. 

MOHRI
Minimum Obligatory Human Resource Information (MOHRI) 
Occupied Headcount represents the number of people 
actively employed and includes staff on leave.  In 2016, 
WBHHS increased its MOHRI Occupied Headcount by 74 
employees.  Employees in the medical stream increased by 
8%, while those in nursing increased by 1%.

MOHRI Occupied FTE represents current FTE positions and 
excludes leave.

Stream Total %
Managerial and Clerical 587 16.5

Medical incl VMO’s 390 11.0

Nursing 1,606 45.2

Operational 616 17.4

Trade and Artisans 12 0.3

Professional and Technical 340 9.6

Total 3551 100
Table 1: MOHRI Occupied Headcount by Stream as at June 2016

Stream Total %

Managerial and Clerical 496.6 17.0

Medical incl VMO’s 366.4 12.5

Nursing 1,237.4 42.4

Operational 496.6 17.0

Trade and Artisans 12.0 0.4

Professional and Technical 313.5 10.7

Total 2922.5 100
Table 2: MOHRI Occupied FTE by Stream as at June 2016

The percentage difference by professional stream between 
MOHRI headcount and occupied FTE is minimal, and any 
variation is generally explained by the dispersion of full-time 
roles into one or more part-time roles and the inclusion of staff 
on leave. 

Separations
In 2015/16, 492 staff separated employment from WBHHS. 
Of this figure, 21% were from the medical stream and 35% 
were from nursing. Overall, the turnover represented 13.9% of 
total staff. No redundancy, retrenchment or early retirements 
packages were paid during the period. 

Staff profile
The average WBHHS employee is 47 years old and female.
Our youngest staff members are a male and female both 
aged 17, while our oldest employees are a male and female 
both aged 75.  Overall, WBHHS employs 2,700 women and 
851 men. Clinical employees make up 66% of our workforce. 

Age Female Male Total
Under 20 years 20 6 26

20-29 years 356 143 499

30-39 years 488 215 703

40-49 years 743 197 940

50-59 years 784 200 984

60-69 years 301 86 387

70-79 years 8 4 12

Total 2700 851 3551
Table 3: Gender and Age Profile as at June 2015
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Women in the workforce
Women comprise 76% of the Wide Bay HHS workforce, with 
women filling 38% of the executive management positions.

Profession 2015 2016

Managerial and Clerical 504 516

Medical incl VMO’s 123 138

Nursing 1,414 1,408

Operational 386 405

Professional and Technical 242 233

Total 2669 2700
Table 4: Women in the workforce by Stream as at June 2016

An equal opportunities employer
Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service values cultural 
diversity, particularly the importance of Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander culture in the communit, and will use 2016-
2017 to enhance the diversity of its workforce, to meet its 
strategic objective of “Developing and empowering our 
workforce”.

As at June 2016, WBHHS’s workforce comprised 1.13% 
of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander employees, which 
equates to 40 employees.  This figure is less than the Public 
Service Commission target of 2.4%. 

The WBHHS workforce was also made up 9.01% of 
employees from a non-English speaking background, 
equating to 320 employees, and 2.31% of employees with a 
disability, equating to 82 employees.

Work-life balance
WBHHS continues to promote strategies to help its 
employees to balance work and life demands.  Flexible 
working arrangements and part-time employment continue to 
be an attractive option for all Wide Bay employees, including 
younger female staff.

Further policies relating to job sharing arrangements, work 

and family considerations, sporting leave, special leave, extra 
leave for proportionate salary, long-service leave on half pay 
and cultural leave are available. Leave assistance is available 
for study or research requirements. 

WBHHS is also proactive in the promotion of staff wellness 
and healthy lifestyles, with internal gymnasium facilities 
available to employees. In May 2016, WBHHS partnered with 
health organisations and a major community event to support 
a 10-week corporate fitness program for staff.

Employees MOHRI Occupied 
Headcount

% of  
workforce

Permanent Full Time 1,575 44.4

Permanent Part Time 1,049 29.5

Temporary Full Time 374 10.5

Temporary Part Time 364 10.3

Casual 189.0 5.3

Total 3551 100

Table 5: Employee Status (MOHRI Occupied Headcount) as at June 
2016 

Occupational Health and Safety
As well as the safety of our patients, the safety of our own 
workforce is something Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service 
takes seriously. Historically, we have had an unacceptably 
high rate of workplace injuries, and consequently high 
numbers of days lost due to injury and high WorkCover costs.

The Occupational Health and Safety unit, which forms part 
of the Human Resource Services team, was tasked with 
implementing our pledge to reduce these incidences of injury 
and associated impacts, as set down by our Strategic Plan 
2014–17. In August 2015, the OHS unit launched a program 
called PRAISE (Positive Responsive Actions in Safety 
Excellence). 

 The PRAISE model has four key objectives and four key 
strategies driving the program. The objectives are:

 ● The elimination of workplace hazards and injuries

 ● Building OHS leadership and workforce capability
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 ● Driving an OHS performance culture

 ● Establishment of effective OHS governance. 

The strategies are:

 ● To focus on establishing awareness and accountability for 
safety in daily work

 ● To engage and enable our employees to take ownership 
of safety outcomes

 ● To empower employees to identify risks and solutions 

 ● To reinforce positive behaviours.

Since its launch, almost 700 people have completed the 
PRAISE training workshops both for employees and leaders, 
hazard reporting has more than doubled year on year, and 
days lost to work-related injury have more than halved. In 
2014/15, WBHHS recorded 6,104 lost working days, but in 
2015/16 lost working days dropped to 2,876. 

This program aims to sustain significant reduction in 
workplace injuries and incidents, and the foundation of its 
continuing success will b e in building on our key objectives 
over the evolving life of the program, which in turn will position 
WBHHS to be a leader in safety excellence.

A further boost for WBHHS’s workplace health and safety 
systems and processes came in April 2016, when we 
participated in an external Australian/New Zealand Standard 
A.S 4801 audit – a requirement of our Service Agreement 
with Queensland Health. This audit, conducted independently 
by Deloitte, is a robust measure of 27 elements of our Safety 
Management System.  WBHHS received strong endorsement 
from this process by achieving compliance in all aspects of 
the audit, with no non-conformances identified across any 
element.

Workforce development 
WBHHS recognises its people are its greatest asset. Through 
encouraging innovation, employee empowerment and 
development through learning, we proudly oversee a range 
of programs that help our staff to upskill, forge strong career 
paths and be part of a cohesive and positive workforce 
culture. 

Not only does our focus on education, training and 
professional development mean a more highly skilled 

workforce, it has also attracted wider recognition. 

Awards and recognition
 
PRAISE

PRAISE (Positive Responsive Actions in Safety Excellence) 
is a WBHHS-developed workplace health and safety 
program that was introduced in August 2015 to address the 
unacceptably high rates of workplace injuries, working days 
lost to injury and consequently high WorkCover costs. It was 
a state finalist in the 2015 Queensland Health Awards for 
Excellence, in the Excellence in Leadership category, which 
was an outstanding effort in its first year of operation. 

PRAISE’s implementation has been led by the Occupational 
Health and Safety team, whose aim has been to significantly 
reduce workplace injuries through engaging employees and 
encouraging them to take ownership and accountability of 
safety outcomes, and to reinforce positive behaviours. 

It has been hugely successful in the 12 months since its 
launch, both in numbers and improvements in culture. Almost 
700 people have completed the employees’ and leaders’ 
training workshops so far, hazard reporting has more than 
doubled year on year, and days lost to work-related injury 
have more than halved. 

Bundaberg Family Unit

The Bundaberg Family Unit was a finalist in the 2015 
Queensland Health Awards for Excellence, in the Customer 
Focus category, for its Maternity Model of Care for Rural 
Women. This was a project that consulted with rural 
communities, WBHHS staff and other health organisations 
to ensure rural women had more choices for antenatal and 
postnatal care.

An extensive online and hard copy survey took place, while 
the project team held discussions with key stakeholders in 
our rural communities in the Childers, Biggenden, Gayndah, 
Mundubbera, Eidsvold, Monto and Gin Gin areas. The 
result was a new model of care that gives women in these 
communities a range of options for their care and ensures 
they are not disadvantaged by their distance from our family 
units.
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Maryborough Hospital ED nursing team

In January 2016 the nursing team at Maryborough Hospital’s 
emergency department was recognised with a statewide 
Pathology Queensland award for its I-stat testing. The team 
was awarded for having not only the highest throughput of all 
point-of-care testing across Queensland, but also the most 
accurate. Representatives of Pathology Queensland visited 
Maryborough Hospital to present the award.  
 
WBHHS ranks in top 3 in AMAQ’s Resident 
Hospital Health Check Survey

Each year, the AMAQ’s Council of Doctors in Training 
carries out a “health check” on hospitals and HHSs, to help 
graduating medical students as well as current interns and 
residents with their decision making when determining which 
hospitals to apply for during intern and Resident Medical 
Officer recruitment campaigns. 

The survey topics include hospital culture, access to annual 
and professional development leave, education, bullying and 
harassment, and overtime. In a strong endorsement of its 
workplace culture, WBHHS was given a B+ overall, ranking it 
in equal third place across Queensland alongside Metro North 
HHS, and ahead of much larger HHSs such as Metro South, 
Sunshine Coast and Gold Coast. 

Education, skills and training
Workplace-Based Assessments program

In the past two years, Wide Bay has been the first HHS in 
Queensland to implement an innovative clinical training 
program designed to help overseas-trained doctors gain 
full Australian medical registration, while at the same time 
improving our recruitment and retention. 

Once doctors have gained their initial limited registration, the 
Workplace-Based Assessment program tests their clinical 
skills over a 12-month period in which they are assessed 
by senior colleagues. The program involves 40 different 
assessments covering the six clinical disciplines of Adult 
Medicine, Adult Surgery, Children’s Health, Emergency 
Medicine, Women’s Health and Mental Health. It assesses 
candidates using real patients in real clinical settings and 
situations, and gives colleagues and managers the chance to 
assess how they perform day-in, day-out.

This compares to a high-pressure three-hour test using 
multiple scenarios and mock patients, which many other 
overseas-trained doctors must sit in order to gain full 
registration. This testing regime frequently has a pass rate as 
low as 20%, and doctors who do not achieve accreditation are 
forced to pay a further $3,500 to re-sit the examination.

WBHHS took the step to introduce Workplace-Based 
Assessments in an effort to address the difficulties recruiting 
doctors to regional areas, in the hope many of those who 
undertook the program would choose to stay either with the 
HHS or with Queensland Health. 

The program has accepted two doctors every three months 
since late 2014, and has already been judged a success. In 
late 2015 and early 2016, the first four graduates completed 
their requirements and gained full medical registration. At 
least two are expected to remain with WBHHS or within the 
medical fraternity in the region. 

Feedback from candidates is that although the WBA is 
an assessment program, the constant assessments and 
immediate feedback provide them with invaluable learning 
that in turn raises the skill and experience levels of the 
Resident Medical Officer (RMO) cohort. Candidates do not 
need to take leave to prepare for any assessments, which 
allows more efficient management of RMO leave.  
Another significant positive to operating the program is that 
WBHHS has received a continuous stream of applications 
from doctors keen to commence the WBA, giving us a better 
chance of recruiting and retaining high-quality clinicians in the 
future.

 
Medical graduate program 

During 2015/16, 30 medical graduates joined WBHHS as 
interns. During this first year of practice, they are provided 
with close supervision, education, training on the job and 
professional assessment.

Sixteen of these entered under the State Government 
program of allocating interns to various locations across 
Queensland, while 14 entered under the Commonwealth 
Medical Internship Initiative. This initiative is designed to 
support international medical students who have trained in 
Australian universities in collaboration with private sector 
health facilities in rural and regional areas. 

WBHHS provides a grounded regional medical experience for 
interns working throughout the Wide Bay area, including the 
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private facilities. This positive experience continues into the 
second and third postgraduate years, with the recent AMAQ 
Resident Hospital Health Check assigning WBHHS an overall 
B+ on a range of measures contributing to good workplace 
culture. 

WBHHS has an affiliation with James Cook University and 
the University of Queensland, which has Rural Clinical 
Schools both in Bundaberg and Hervey Bay. WBHHS hosts 
third- and fourth-year medical students for an academic year, 
completing rotations throughout various departments.

WBHHS also hosts medical trainees from other colleges who 
need to complete regional/rural and specific specialist training 
programs. These include:

 ● Australasian College of Emergency Medicine

 ● Royal Australian and New Zealand College of 
Obstetricians and Gynaecologists

 ● Royal Australasian College of Physicians

 ● Certificate/Diploma courses in Paediatrics for GPs

 ● Royal Australasian College of Surgeons

 ● Royal Australian and New Zealand College of 
Psychiatrists. 

Nursing graduate program

WBHHS runs annual Nursing Graduate Programs across its 
facilities, with a variety of options for length of placement and 
commencement dates. The 12-month program gives newly 
graduated registered nurses practical experience either in one 
or two placements including units such as medical, surgical, 
paediatrics, emergency, renal or intensive care. 

In 2015/16, WBHHS took 56 graduate registered nurses, who 
were allocated as follows: 

District
RN 

Gradiuates
Intake 
dates

Rotation

Fraser Coast 32
February, 
April, July

Two six-month 
rotations – firstly 
in medical/surgical 
unit, followed by 
specialty area such 
as paediatrics, 
emergency, renal or 
intensive care. 

Bundaberg 17 February

One-year program 
at single unit such 
as medical, surgical, 
rehabilitation, 
emergency, renal, 
outpatients or mental 
health. 

Rural areas 7 February

One-year program at 
single facility, including 
one emergency 
rotation to Bundaberg

In the near future, WBHHS’s family units will join the program 
by hosting formal placements for postgraduate midwives. 

The Office of the Chief Nurse and Midwifery Officer provides 
some funding for graduates employed through the Graduate 
Nurse Online Recruitment process to assist with provision of 
preceptorship. 

The graduates are otherwise part of the workforce and are 
funded as part of the units’ full-time equivalent resourcing. 
Some units have designated annual resourcing allocated for 
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graduate nurses, while others decide each year what their 
needs are based on workforce requirements at the time (such 
as skill mix, vacancies or long-term leave). 

WBHHS is currently working to devise a consistent process 
that would inform the annual graduate intake numbers with 
certainty. 

With the average age of the nursing workforce sitting at over 
50, the graduate program is also an important recruitment and 
retention tool for our service. It is estimated that more than 
80% of graduates remain with WBHHS for at least the first 
year after the program’s conclusion. 

 
Professional development  

While professional development – and in particular 
professional development leave – has long been a mainstay 
for clinicians, WBHHS has been working hard to offer a range 
of opportunities for employees across the organisation to 
grow their skills and build stronger career paths. 

Among these opportunities is the rollout of the Business Skills 
for Health Professionals program, a two-day course that aims 
to give more support to staff members in leadership roles and 
to develop their management skill set. 

The course is suitable for medical, clinical and operational 
staff with budgetary, management or leadership 
responsibilities, and is run by former Queensland Health 
corporate professionals. 

WBHHS has invested about $180,000 to deliver the course to 
about 300 current and future managers throughout 2015/16 
and 2016/17. It is then expected the training will be brought 
in-house as part of our standard training and development 
framework. 

Learning management system

Another important step forward for internal training and 
development is the creation of WBHHS’s first online learning 
management system. The system, called TrainStation, has 
been developed throughout the 2015/16 year and was due to 
be launched in July 2016. 

The development of TrainStation will be a crucial tool on a 
number of levels. 

Firstly, it will personalise the training experience, allowing 

employees to access their own training record, view what 
options are both available and mandatory, and receive 
individual reminders when required training is due. It also 
allows WBHHS’s Education and Training division, and by 
extension the Clinical Governance team of which it forms 
a part, a clear picture of our training compliance and which 
areas we need to target to lift both compliance and quality.

A strong training framework has very real implications for 
the delivery of quality healthcare, and WBHHS believes the 
implementation of TrainStation will be another important step 
in its commitment to providing quality care every day.  

Undergraduate education collaborative

In 2016, WBHHS established a collaborative forum to 
plan, manage and review the experience of undergraduate 
students as valued members of our clinical community with 
a focus on fostering graduate capability and entry to practice 
readiness. 

This partnership brings together key regional partners 
in undergraduate education including The University of 
Queensland Rural Clinical School, University of the Sunshine 
Coast, Central Queensland University and TAFE East Coast.

With so many students attending placements at our facilities, 
it was deemed essential for WBHHS to partner with education 
providers to optimise the value of workplace-based learning.  

In 2015, WBHHS supported more than 1600 weeks of 
clinical placement for nursing students and the University 
of Queensland Rural Clinical School Work Plan for medical 
doctor training. In 2016, capacity has grown further with 
the appointment of clinical coaches to support staff training 
students, with 944 weeks of clinical placement provided in the 
six months to June 2016 alone. 

The collaborative has a shared vision to develop a culture 
of lifelong learning and teaching among WBHHS health 
professionals, where clinical education is seen as a core 
component of the WBHHS mission that is inseparable from 
health service delivery. 

Securing the availability of a skilled clinical workforce to meet 
the needs of the Wide Bay community into the future will be 
fostered by creating a clinical atmosphere that is welcoming 
to students and through which they are encouraged to 
develop a sense of belonging and attachment to the WBHHS. 
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      Our governance

Board roles and responsibilities 
The primary role of the Wide Bay Hospital and Health Board 
is to provide effective governance over the delivery of hospital 
services, other health services, teaching, research and other 
services stated in the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011 
(the Act) and the WBHHS Service Agreement. 

The Board’s responsibilities include, but are not limited to, 
the matters outlined in the Act. The Board may refer some 
or all of these matters to one or more committees of the 
Board. In such cases, the Board will oversee the work of 
these committees and attend to matters referred to it by those 
committees. 

Authority of the Board 
Under the authority of the Act and the Financial Accountability 
Act 2009, the Board may delegate its functions to a 
committee of the Board, if all the members of the committee 
are Board members, or to the WBHHS Chief Executive. 

The Board has the authority to create relevant committees 
prescribed by legislation, regulation or others, as deemed 
necessary to assist in discharging its responsibilities. The 
Board may only delegate decision-making authority to a 
committee where its members are Board members. Non-
Board members may participate in any such committees only 
as non-voting members. 

Public Sector Ethics Act 1994 
Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service is committed to 
upholding the values and standards of conduct outlined in the 
Code of Conduct for the Queensland Public Service, which 
came into effect on January 1, 2011. The Code of Conduct 
applies to all employees of WBHHS and was developed under 
the Public Sector Ethics Act 1994, consisting of four core 
aspirational principles: 

 ● Integrity and impartiality 

 ● Promoting the public good 

 ● Commitment to the system of government 

 ● Accountability and transparency. 

Following the devolution of functions from the Department of 
Health, the Executive Director of Human Resource Services 
became the central point in WBHHS to receive, assess and 
refer allegations of suspected official misconduct to the Crime 
and Corruption Commission. This role enabled the WBHHS 
Chief Executive to fulfil his obligation to report allegations of 
suspected official misconduct under the Crime and Corruption 
Act 2001. 

WBHHS delivers mandatory training to all staff, which 
includes material relating to the Code of Conduct and Public 
Sector Ethics, and abides by the Department of Health human 
resources policies that relate to the application of the Code of 
Conduct and the reporting of suspected official misconduct.  

4Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service
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Machinery of government
Wide Bay Hospital and Health service was not subject to any 
Machinery of Government changes in 2015/16.

Membership of the Board 
The Wide Bay Hospital and Health Board consists of nine 
members appointed by the Governor in Council, by gazette 
notice, on recommendation of the Minister for Health. 

The Minister will recommend persons considered to have 
the skills, knowledge and experience required for a board to 
perform its functions effectively and efficiently. 

The tenure of the members of the Board is stated in the 
member’s instrument of appointment and is not more than 
four years. For current Board Members, refer to Board 
Member profiles on page 18. 

Remuneration 
The Governor in Council approves the remuneration 
arrangements for Hospital and Health Board Chairs, Deputy 
Chairs and Members. Chairs, Deputy Chairs and Members 
will be paid an annual salary consistent with the Government 
policy titled “Remuneration procedures for part-time chairs 
and members of Queensland Government bodies”. 

For Board Member remuneration, see Note D1 of the 
Financial Statements.

Board meetings and committees 
The Board and each committee have a charter.  Membership 
consists of Board members as deter-mined by the Board, 
with the Chief Executive attending all Board and committee 
meetings. 

To assist the Board in discharging its responsibilities, the 
Board oversees the following committees: 

 ● Executive Committee 
 ● Finance Committee 
 ● Safety and Quality Committee 
 ● Audit and Risk Committee.

The Board generally meets on the last Wednesday of the 
month, while the committees meet a minimum of four times a 
year. In 2015/16, the Board met 10 times, incurring a total of 
$28,200.08 in out-of-pocket expenses.

The Executive Committee supports the Board in its role 
working with the Chief Executive to progress strategic issues 
and ensures accountability in the delivery of health services 
and strategies of the HHS.

The Finance Committee is also attended by the Executive 
Director of Finance and Performance, provides assurance 
and assistance to the Board through the oversight of financial 
position, Budget, integrity and policies of the WBHHS. 

The Safety and Quality Committee is also attended by the 
Executive Director of Clinical Governance and Executive 
Director of Human Resource Services and provides 
assurance and assistance to the Board on safety, quality, 
clinical governance frameworks and Occupational Health and 
Safety.

The Audit and Risk Committee is also attended by the 
Executive Director of Finance and Performance, internal 
auditor representatives and, as required, external audit 
representatives. The committee operates with due regard 
for the Treasury’s Audit Committee Guidelines, providing 
assurance and assistance to the Board on: 

 ● The Service’s risk, control and compliance frameworks 

 ● The Service’s external accountability responsibilities as 
prescribed in the Financial Accountability Act 2009, the 
Auditor-General Act 2009, the Financial Accountability 
Regulation 2009 and the Financial and Performance 
Management Standard 2009. 

Bernard Wheball, Chartered Accountant, Registered Auditor 
and Partner with Ulton (Accountants, Auditors and Financial 
Advisors) attends Finance Committee and Audit and Risk 
Committees as an advisor. 

Other executive and management staff attends committee 
meetings as required.
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External audits 
To comply with contractual obligations of the National 
Health and Hospitals Agreement, “to deliver quality and 
service standards”, surveyors from the Australian Council on 
Healthcare Standards (ACHS) conducted an independent 
organisation-wide audit from November 3–7, 2014 visiting all 
regional and rural facilities. 

Ten National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards 
and five ACHS EQuIP National Standards were assessed, 
with Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service successfully 
meeting all standards. Accreditation status has been awarded 
for four years, valid until April 1, 2019. 

However, for much of the 2015/16 year, the WBHHS Clinical 
Governance Unit has been working with the ACHS to lead a 
nationwide-first trial in continuous hospital accreditation. This 
means we are committed to being accreditation ready every 
day and will have little notice of visits by surveyors prior to 
audits. 

This exciting trial was approved in June 2016 by the 
Queensland Health Deputy Director-General of Clinical 
Excellence and the Chief Executive of the Australian 

Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care, and will 
proceed in the 2016/17 year. 

Internal audits 
The Wide Bay, Central Queensland and Sunshine Coast 
Hospital and Health Services have established an internal 
audit agreement under a hub and spoke, co-sourced model to 
ensure the effective, efficient and economical operation of the 
audit function. 

The role, operating environment and reporting arrangements 
of the function are established in the Internal Audit 
Charter that has due regard to the professional standards 
and Treasury’s Audit Committee Guidelines: Improving 
Accountability and Performance. 

This internal audit function provides independent assurance 
and advice to the Wide Bay Hospital and Health Board’s Audit 
and Risk Committee, the Health Service Chief Executive 
and senior management. It enhances WBHHS’s corporate 
governance environment through an objective, systematic 
approach to evaluating the effectiveness and efficiency 
of corporate governance processes, internal controls 

Board committee memberships

Name Position Committees Meetings attended 
 (10 scheduled)

Dominic Devine Chair Executive (Chair); Finance; Safety and Quality;  
Audit and Risk 9

Barbara Hovard OAM Deputy Chair Executive (Deputy Chair); Finance; Safety and Quality 9

Gary Kirk Board Member Audit and Risk (Chair); Executive 8

Joy Jensen Board Member Safety and Quality (Chair); Executive 9

Chris Hyne Board Member Finance  (Chair); Executive 10

Paul Dare Board Member Finance; Audit and Risk 10

Prof Bryan Burmeister Board Member Executive; Safety and Quality 9

George Plint Board Member Safety and Quality; Audit and Risk 8

Peta Jamieson Board Member Finance; Audit and Risk 9
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and risk assessment. This is in keeping with the role and 
responsibilities detailed in Part 2, Division 5 of the Financial 
and Performance Management Standard 2009. 

The internal audit function is independent of management 
and external auditors, and has operated in accordance with 
a strategic and annual plan approved by the Board Audit and 
Risk Committee. The activities of the function and the status 
against the Annual Audit Plan are reported to the Audit and 
Risk Committee through a Quarterly Report. The function has: 

 ● discharged the responsibilities established in the Charter 
by executing the annual audit plan prepared as a result 
of risk assessments, materiality, contractual and statutory 
obligations, as well as through consultation with executive 
management 

 ● provided reports on the results of audits undertaken to the 
Health Service Chief Executive and the Audit and Risk 
Committee 

 ● monitored and reported on the status of the 
implementation of audit recommendations to the Audit 
and Risk Committee. Management is responsible for the 
implementation of audit recommendations 

 ● liaised with the Queensland Audit Office to ensure there 
was no duplication of “audit effort” 

 ● supported management by providing advice on corporate 
governance and related issues including fraud and 
corruption prevention programs and risk management 

 ● allocated audit resources to areas on a risk basis where 
the work of internal audit can be valuable in providing 
positive assurance or identifying opportunities for positive 
change 

 ● provided a high-level review of WBHHS’s annual financial 
statements presented to the Audit and Risk Committee for 
endorsement. 

The audit team consists of members of professional bodies 
including the Institute of Internal Auditors, CPA Australia 
and the Information System Audit and Control Association 
(ISACA). The head of the internal audit team is Lee Peters 
BBus, CPA, PMIIA CIA. 

Executive Management Team 
The Executive Management Team (EMT) reports to and 
supports the Chief Executive in the development of strategic 
direction and advice to the WBHH Board, and is also 

responsible and accountable for operational performance in 
delivering health services. The EMT meets twice monthly to 
ensure effective management and achievement of WBHHS 
performance and service targets in areas such as human 
resources, finance and performance, safety and quality, risk 
management, governance and professional activity.

The EMT is supported by six professional directors who 
attend management meetings as required to advise on 
specific areas including nursing, medical, public health, 
contracts, capital infrastructure and buildings, and 
communications. 

Safety and Quality
In June 2016, Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service 
received approval to start a nationwide-first trial in continuous 
accreditation, meaning we are committed to being 
accreditation ready every day. But a great deal of groundwork 
had to be laid in the past three years to build the platform from 
which to launch this innovative trial. 

During 2013/14, WBHHS adopted a philosophy of continuous 
quality improvement based on quality and safety research 
to integrate best practice elements and quality improvement 
methods in the design of the Clinical Governance Framework. 
This document also provides guidance on establishing the 
systems, processes and behaviours necessary to maintain 
high standards and to promote the pursuit of excellence 
through continuous improvement. 

In 2014/15, safety and quality committees were consolidated 
and ensured compliance and continuous improvement of the 
national safety standards, with reporting of activity at that time 
to the WBHHS Clinical Governance Executive Committee 
(CGEC). Both the WBHHS Executive and the WBHH Board’s 
Safety and Quality Committee received regular reports from 
CGEC, including recommendations and outcomes on:

 ● Patient Safety 

 ● Quality and Risk Management 

 ● Clinical Indicators 

 ● Consumer Engagement 

 ● Risk Management 

 ● Occupational Health and Safety 

 ● Quality Management. 
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In 2015/16, further consolidation work was done to align 
our training and education framework and our policies and 
procedures with the national standards, so that all staff 
can clearly understand how their daily work and training 
requirements align with those overarching standards. 

WBHHS’s training compliance data and reporting has 
also been upgraded, allowing the Clinical Governance 
team to better track training needs and compliance. As a 
result, training participation and compliance is improving 
significantly, helping us to further enhance the provision of 
high-quality, patient-centred care. 

A further step in ensuring the best possible safety and quality 
for patients has been the formation of the Professional 
Management Group, a cohesive and collaborative body 
to which the safety and quality committees now report, 
instead of the Clinical Governance Executive Committee 
as previously. This new group includes a wider scope of 
clinicians and professionals, and reviews all aspects of 
WBHHS’s quality frameworks, professional standards and 
audit compliance, training and education. Regular reporting 
to the Executive and the Board’s Safety and Quality 
Committee continues. 

In WBHHS’s Strategic Plan 2014 – 2017, we pledged 
to engage with the community and be more open and 
accountable, and in March 2016 this culminated in the 
release of our inaugural Quality of Care Report. This 
landmark report reviewed the standard of services provided 
to patients in 2014/2015 and was the most comprehensive of 
its kind in Queensland.

Among the highlights were measures in which we exceeded 
state and national benchmarks, including rates of mortality, 
falls, infection and medication error. We have also committed 
to our own ambitious benchmarks where they do not exist at 
state or national level, or where we believe we can do better. 
There were areas needing improvement too, for example on 
measures including pressure injuries, complaint turnaround 
times and mandatory training compliance, but in all cases 
the implementation of improved internal processes has led 
to significant progress being made since the reporting period 
finished.  

It is intended that the Quality of Care Report will now 
become an annual document, updated with each year’s 
outcomes against set measures and made public closer to 
the release of the Annual Report. 

Risk management
Risk within WBHHS is managed according to an integrated 
risk management policy and procedure, which has been 
based on Australian Standards for Risk Management and 
endorsed by the Board. 

Key strategic risks are considered as part of the 
development of the WBHHS Strategic Plan 2014 – 2017, and 
are as follows:

 ● Increasing demand for services as a result of population 
growth, demographics, increased life expectancy and 
growing burden of disease

 ● Community expectations of a full range of free hospital 
and health services 

 ● Financial pressures due to WBHHS unique 
demographics 

 ● Workforce capacity to meet growing demands 

 ● Infrastructure and technology in a changing health 
environment 

 ● Clinical risk, as identified through clinical audits

 ● Disaster management impact on service delivery. 

Risk registers are held by each facility, with service and risk 
as key agenda items on service management committees. 

“High-rated” risks are reviewed by the Executive 
Management Team on a monthly basis and are also provided 
to the Board Risk and Audit Committee to ensure appropriate 
risk mitigation.

Information systems and 
record keeping 
The Office of the Chief Executive has implemented 
an electronic record management system for key 
correspondence to and from the office. 

WBHHS maintains its clinical records in accordance with 
a retention and disposal system, which complies with 
Queensland State Archives Health Sector standards. 
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Compliance with (Clinical Records) Retention and Disposal 
Schedule (QDAN683 v.1) requirements are externally 
assessed as part of the ACHS EQuIP National Standards 
accreditation requirements.

Open data 
Consultancies 

Information on consultancy costs is no longer required in 
annual reports. The information is published instead on the 
Queensland Government Open Data website at https://data.
qld.gov.au. 

Overseas Travel 

Information on overseas travel costs is no longer required in 
annual reports. The information is published instead on the 
Queensland Government Open Data website at https://data.
qld.gov.au. 

Queensland Language Services Policy

Information on the use and costs of interpreters is no longer 
required in annual reports. The information is published 
instead on the Queensland Government Open Data website 
at https://data.qld.gov.au. 
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Strategic objectives and performance indicators

5       Our performance
Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service

WBHHS Pledge WBHHS Strategic 
Objectives WBHHS Achievements 2015 - 2016

Queensland Government objective for the community - Delivering quality frontline services

Delivering sustainable, 
patient-centred, quality 
health services

Consistently provide safe, 
high-quality patient-focused 
care

Recruitment and commencement of four general managers to support 
divisional structure for improved service delivery.

Quality of Care Report 2014-2015 released for public access.

Development and implementation of WBHHS Water Quality and Risk 
Management Plan for the early detection and treatment of Legionella. 
This has formed the basis for legislation of water quality in QH 
facilities. 

Clinical Governance Framework, Safety and Quality standards 
committee structure and reporting reviewed and realigned to ensure 
"accreditation ready every day".

Achieving 100% elective surgery targets for patients in most serious 
categories 1, 2 and 3.

Consistent high performance for outpatient clinics, with 98% of 
Category 1, 95% of Category 2 and 100% of Category 3 patients seen 
in target time.

NEAT action plan endorsed to improve patient flow through ED in the 
current Hervey Bay Hospital environment.

Regular review of safety and quality performance indicators with 
variances actioned for improvement.

Installation of two new CT scanners in Hervey Bay and Bundaberg to 
improve diagnostic capability and capacity.

Planning for new Emergency Department at Hervey Bay Hospital is 
complete.  Due for completion in 2018.

Hospital in the Home summit to increase referral and occupancy.

Major upgrades: kitchens in Bundaberg, Hervey Bay, Childers, 
Eidsvold and Gayndah; Hervey Bay Hospital water; Maryborough 
Hospital air conditioning and electricals; Eidsvold and Monto Hospitals 
security systems and Bundaberg Hospital helipad.

Upgrade of facilities at Gin Gin Hospital completed, including medical 
consulting rooms.
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WBHHS Pledge WBHHS Strategic 
Objectives WBHHS Achievements 2015 - 2016

Improve health outcomes 
for our Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Island communities

Newly appointed Manager for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
health services.

Improve access to our health 
services

Commencement of expanded services in newly commissioned Cancer 
Care and Oral Health facilities in Bundaberg and Hervey Bay.

Launch and implementation of Cancer Care Strategic Plan 2015 - 
2018.  Four staff oncologists recruited and commenced to improve 
access to treatment locally.

Rural Health Strategic Plan in progress.

Introduction of MIS to improve management of waiting lists.

Best performing HHS for treating elective surgery patients in turn.

Rural Midwifery Model of Care implemented to improve choice in 
antenatal and postnatal care options.

Paediatric outreach services from Bundaberg Hospital have 
commenced in Monto.

Recommencement of pathology services at Maryborough Hospital.

Newly refurbished 24-bed medical and palliative care ward at 
Maryborough Hospital.

Queensland Government objective for the community - Building safe, caring and connected communities

Engaging with our 
communities and partners

Open and transparent 
communication channels

Commencement of a position (reporting to the Board) to co-ordinate 
revitalised Community Reference Groups.

Community Engagement Strategy revision commenced.

WBHHS Facebook page established and ahead of audience target. 

Fortnightly publication of the Wide Bay Wave and regular updates 
circulated to staff from Chief Executive and other executives. 

Internal communications officer appointed.

Increase patient choice Rural Midwifery Model of Care implemented following consultation with 
consumers.

Partner with local health 
providers to improve the 
diversity of services and 
continuity of care

Partnership with PHN for management of patients with chronic disease 
and mental illness.

WBHHS membership on PHN clinical networks and partnering to 
develop health pathways.

Expansion of public/private partnerships for cardiology, ophthalmology 
and radiation oncology. 

Encourage greater focus on 
health promotion and early 
intervention to address the 
growing burden of chronic 
disease 

WBHHS Health Promotion Strategy finalised. 

Mental Health Promotion Plan commenced.
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WBHHS Pledge WBHHS Strategic 
Objectives WBHHS Achievements 2015 - 2016

Queensland Government objective for the community - Creating jobs and a diverse economy

Developing and empowering 
our workforce

Become a centre of 
excellence for learning to 
ensure our staff are both 
competent and meet service 
needs

Clinical and national performance standards identified and 
incorporated into clinical directors' performance plans.

30 Variable Life Adjusted Display (VLAD) indicators monitored monthly 
by Clinical Governance Support Unit (CGSU).

Development of an integrated online Learning Management System.

Fully resourced graduate and undergraduate support structure in 
place.

Funding for ongoing management and operation of simulation centres.

Achieved college accreditation for registrars including anaesthetics, 
physician training, paediatrics, general surgeons, emergency 
medicine, and obstetrics and gynaecology.   

Membership to Health Round Table renewed for peer benchmarking 
and best practice initiatives.

Create a workplace culture 
that supports positive and 
respectful behaviours, high 
performance, accountability 
and customer service

Implementation of stream structure supported by appointment of 
General Managers.

Management Support Framework implemented with additional 
education for cost centre managers.

PRAISE workplace safety program implemented with strong results 
and regular updates provided - recognised for innovation excellence.

Compliance with all 27 elements of A.S 4801 Safety Management 
System.

Rewards and Recognition program commenced.

Upgrade of motorised equipment to ensure environmental staff safety.

Develop and implement new 
workforce models to improve 
patient access and quality 
of care

6 specialist Nurse Practitioners operating across the HHS.

Additional clinical nurses recruited to support expansion of telehealth.

Expansion of allied health services in North Burnett including additional 
allied health professionals and allied health assistants.

Encouraging innovation and 
excellence

Create an environment 
supportive of innovation 
and research through 
partnerships

Joint Clinical Education Committee established with tertiary partners.

New partnerships for sustainable services, eg urology, acute pain.

Maximise education, training 
and research opportunities 
to enable innovation and 
improvement in the delivery 
of health services

Medical orientation package revised to improve utilisation of 
technology.

Utilise technologies that 
improve the effectiveness 
and quality of our health 
services

Outstanding and overdue discharge summary alerts implemented.

Telehealth commenced for pre-admission assessments of rural 
patients.
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WBHHS Pledge WBHHS Strategic 
Objectives WBHHS Achievements 2015 - 2016

Telehealth utilised to deliver falls and balance programs in North 
Burnett.

Commissioning of two CT scanners in Bundaberg and Hervey Bay.

Ensure all our services 
are evidence based 
and embrace innovative 
approaches to service 
delivery

HITH Forum conducted for expansion of service with increased 
utilisation of the service.

Delivering value for money

Manage resources 
effectively to ensure ongoing 
sustainability of services

Restructure of Finance and Performance Unit.

Enhanced understanding of funding options.

Improved management of Patient Travel Subsidy Scheme (PTSS) 
claims.

Develop strong financial 
management capability

Q Contracts database completed.

Additional cost centre management and business skills education 
provided.

Additional coder resources appointed with improved accuracy.

Actively pursue efficiency 
opportunities to enable 
reinvestment in health 
services in the Wide Bay 
community

Significant reduction in medical vacancies down to 6%, reducing locum 
expenses. 

Return on investment of improvement projects reinvested.



45Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service Annual Report 2015-2016

Service Delivery Performance Statement 2015/16

*Notes 2014-15  
Actual

2015-16  
Target/Est

2015-16 
Actual

Emergency Department

Emergency presentations 1 115,246 115,743

ED Seen in time Category 1 (within 2 minutes) 100% 100% 100%

Category 2 (within 10 minutes) 85% 80% 82%

Category 3 (within 30 minutes) 77% 75% 74%

Category 4 (within 60 minutes) 72% 70% 72%

Category 5 (within 120 min-
utes) 90% 70% 91%

NEAT 
(National Emergency Access 

Target  - percentage of people 
leaving within four hours of 

arrival)

2 83% 90% 78%

Median wait time (mins) 22 20 21 

Elective Surgery

NEST Part 1  
(National Elective Surgery 

Target - percentage of patients 
treated within clinically recom-

mended times)

Category 1 (within 30 days) 100% 98% 100%

Category 2 (within 90 days) 100% 95% 100%

Category 3 (within 365 days) 100% 95% 100%

Median wait time for elective 
surgery (days) 29 25 23

Total operations performed 3 14,203 14,047

Elective procedures 10,121 9,842

Emergency procedures 4,082 4,205
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*Notes 2014-15  
Actual

2015-16  
Target/Est

2015-16 
Actual

Outpatients

Percentage of patients waiting 
within clinically recommended 

times
Category 1 (within 30 days) 4 98% ... 98%

Category 2 (within 90 days) 85% ... 95%

Category 3 (within 365 days) 97% ... 100%

Outpatients occasions of 
service

5 308,205 391,127

Activity

Patients admitted to hospital 6 75,380 76,901

Patient contacts 934,385 971,371

Total Weighted Activity Units: 6 Q18

Total QWAU Acute Inpatient 39,862 40,786 42,942 

Outpatients 8,840 9,471 10,273 

Sub-acute 6,654 5,369 6,808

Emergency Department 14,038 11,965 14,493 

Mental Health 2,906 3,380 3,386 

Interventions and Procedures 6,222 7,205 7,007

Average cost per QWAU for 
Activity-Based Funding (ABF) 

facilities
12, 13 $4,769 $5,424 $5,022

Rate of healthcare-associated 
Staphylococcus aureus (includ-
ing MRSA) bloodstream (SAB) 
infections / 10,000 acute public 

hospital patient days

7 0.85 <2.0 0.24
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*Notes 2014-15  
Actual

2015-16  
Target/Est

2015-16 
Actual

Oral Health

Dental occasions of service 8 79,359 79,588

Mental Health

Mental health consumer  
contacts

9 54,298 62,454

Rate of community follow-up 
within 1-7 days following 

discharge from an acute metal 
health inpatient unit

72% >65.0% 73%

Proportion of readmissions to 
acute MH inpatient unit within 

28 days
10 6% <12.0% 8.3%

Ambulatory mental health ser-
vice contact duration (hours)

11 30,831 >31,785 34,063

Family Services

Births 2,065 1,964

Telehealth

Occasions of service 2,250 3,745

*Notes - Page 48
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Notes: (Rounding to the nearest full figure) 

1. Data Source: EDIS, HBCIS and Necto Outpatient Activity Module.  All patients 
presentations to the emergency departments.

2. The NEAT target was lowered to >80% in June 2016 in the interest of patient 
safety, but was 90% for the majority of 2015/16.

3. Data Source: CARU Census Data, HBCIS, ORMIS. Bundaberg includes Minor 
Operations (inpatient). 

4. The 2015/16 Estimated Actual figures are based on an average of ten months 
actual performance from 1 July 2015 to 30 April 2016. The 2015/16 Service 
Delivery Statement did not include a 2015/16 Target/Estimate as the target was 
under review. The review has been completed and has enabled HHS-specific 
targets to be set for 2016/17. 

5. Data Source: Necto.  Excludes: activity outsourced to private facilities, 
community health, community mental health, breastscreen, oral health. Includes: 
all hospital-based service delivery including Imaging and Pharmacy. 

6. Data Source: HBCIS, Necto Modules. Includes all activity i.e. WBHHS facilities 
and Mental Health plus  local private facilities.  Manual addition to patients 
admitted to hospital to compensate for Ophthalmology inpatient admissions 
(1,289) not attributed to WBHHS in DoH system.

7. Staphylococcus aureus are bacteria commonly found on around 30% of 
people’s skin and noses and often cause no adverse effects. Infections with 
this organism can be serious, particularly so when they infect the bloodstream. 
The data reported for this service standard are for bloodstream infections with 
Staphylococcus aureus (including MRSA) and are reported as a rate of infection 
per 10,000 patient day aggregated to WBHHS level.

8. Data Source: ISOH and QHERS.  Includes: Children, Prosthetics, General and 
Specialists Dental. 

9. Data Source: CIMHA, Necto. Incudes:  Outpatients only. Excludes: Alcohol and 
other drugs and admissions. 

10. Targets have been set based on methodologies utilised in other jurisdictions. This 
more clearly articulates performance expectations based on state and national 
investment in the provision of community mental health services.

11. The previous measure number of ambulatory service contacts (mental health) 
has been amended to ambulatory mental health services contact duration, which 
is considered a more robust measure of services delivered. This is a measure of 
community mental health services provided by HHSs, which represent more than 
50% of the total expenditure on clinical mental health services in Queensland.

12. Expenses per WAU for ABF Facilities: Value For Money indicator.

13. 2014/15 Annual Report result $4,814; variation due to QWAU version change 
Q17 to Q18.
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Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service 

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.     3 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

for the year ended 30 June 2016 

2016 2015
OPERATING RESULT Notes $'000 $'000

Income 
User charges and fees A1-1 523,886 486,571
Grants and other contributions A1-2 4,226 6,088
Other revenue A1-3 4,481 7,497
Total Revenue 532,593 500,156

Gain on disposals 79 5
Total Income from Continuing Operations 532,672 500,161

Expenses 
Employee expenses A2-1 54,164 45,676
Health service employee expenses A2-2 307,184 285,242
Supplies and services A2-3 168,157 155,042
Depreciation and amortisation B4-1 15,356 12,383
Impairment losses B2-2 468 417
Other expenses A2-4 1,401 1,336
Total Expenses from Continuing Operations 546,730 500,096

Operating Result for the year (14,058) 65

Other Comprehensive Income 
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 
Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus B8-2 1,282 12,982
Total Other Comprehensive Income for the year 1,282 12,982

Total Comprehensive Income for the year (12,776) 13,047
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6. Financial statements

Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service 

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.     4 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

as at 30 June 2016 

2016 2015
Notes $'000 $'000

Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents B1 (4,840) 5,977
Trade and other receivables B2-1 13,730 12,630
Inventories B3 4,031 4,134
Prepayments 432 245
Total Current Assets 13,353 22,986

Non-Current Assets 
Property, plant and equipment B4-1 213,986 185,191
Intangibles B5 62 83
Total Non-Current Assets 214,048 185,274

Total Assets 227,401 208,260

Current Liabilities 
Trade and other payables B6-1 23,878 20,475
Accrued employees benefits B7 1,680 981
Unearned revenue 284 82
Total Current Liabilities 25,842 21,538

Total Liabilities 25,842 21,538

Net Assets 201,559 186,722

Equity 
Contributed equity B8-1 200,387 172,774
Accumulated surplus/(deficit) (13,883) 175
Asset revaluation surplus B8-2 15,055 13,773
Total Equity 201,559 186,722
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Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service 

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.     5 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

for the year ended 30 June 2016 

Contributed 
equity

Asset 
revaluation 

surplus 

Accumulated 
surplus/ 
(deficit) 

Total 
equity

Notes $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance as at 1 July 2014 177,694 791 110 178,595
Profit and Loss 
Operating result from continuing operations - - 65 65
Other Comprehensive Income 
Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus - 12,982 - 12,982
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year - 12,982 65 13,047

Transaction with Owners: 
Equity asset transfers B8-1 190 - - 190
Non appropriated equity injections - minor capital works B8-1 7,256 - - 7,256
Non appropriated equity withdrawals - Depreciation 
funding B8-1 (12,366) - - (12,366)
Net Transactions with Owners as Owners (4,920) - - (4,920)

Balance at 30 June 2015 172,774 13,773 175 186,722

Balance as at 1 July 2015 172,774 13,773 175 186,722
Profit and Loss 
Operating result from continuing operations - - (14,058) (14,058)
Other Comprehensive Income 
Increase/(decrease) in asset revaluation surplus - 1,282 - 1,282
Total Comprehensive Income for the Year - 1,282 (14,058) (12,776)

Transaction with Owners: 
Equity asset transfers B8-1 33,741 - - 33,741
Non appropriated equity injections - minor capital works B8-1 9,211 - - 9,211
Non appropriated equity withdrawals - Depreciation 
funding B8-1 (15,339) - - (15,339)
Net Transactions with Owners as Owners 27,613 - - 27,613

Balance at 30 June 2016 200,387 15,055 (13,883) 201,559
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6. Financial statements

The accompanying notes form part of these statements.     6 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

for the year ended 30 June 2016 

2016 2015
Notes $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities 
Inflows 
User charges and fees 506,487 473,323
Grants and other contributions 4,323 5,943
GST input tax credits from ATO 9,801 9,331
GST collected from customers 463 536
Other receipts 4,995 7,040

Outflows 
Employee expenses (53,470) (44,652)
Health service employee expenses (308,397) (293,411)
Supplies and services (163,620) (155,579)
GST paid to suppliers (9,801) (9,316)
GST remitted to ATO (449) (522)
Other payments (1,001) (1,091)
Net cash from/(used by) operating activities CF-1 (10,669) (8,397)

Cash flows from investing activities 
Inflows 
Sales of property, plant and equipment 79 53

Outflows 
Payments for property, plant and equipment (9,438) (6,787)
Net cash from/(used by) investing activities (9,359) (6,733)

Cash flows from financing activities 
Inflows 
Equity injections 9,211 7,255
Net cash from/(used by) financing activities 9,211 7,255

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (10,817) (7,876)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 5,977 13,852
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year B1 (4,840) 5,977
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Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service 

   7 

NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

CF-1 Reconciliation of operating result to net cash from operating activities 
2016 2015 
$'000 $'000

Operating result from continuing operations (14,058) 65

Adjustments for: 
Depreciation and amortisation 15,355 12,383 
Depreciation grant funding (15,339) (12,366) 
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of non-current assets 283 275
Reversal impairment losses - 140
Donated assets / asset adjustments (23) (71) 
Inventory adjustment (10) 6

Changes in assets and liabilities: 
(Increase)/Decrease in receivables 2,144 (3,269) 
(Increase)/Decrease in funding receivables (3,258) 2,200 
(Increase)/Decrease in GST receivables 14 29
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories 103 (746) 
(Increase)/Decrease in prepayments (186) (37) 
Increase/(Decrease) in accounts payable 3,406 (7,920) 
Increase/(Decrease) in unearned revenue 202 (50) 
Increase/(Decrease) in accrued employee benefits 697 964
Net cash from/(used by) operating activities (10,669) (8,397) 
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6. Financial statements

Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service 
Notes to the financial statements 

for the year ended 30 June 2016 

 8 

BASIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT PREPARATION  

GENERAL INFORMATION 
The Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service was established on 1st July 2012 as a not-for-profit statutory body under the Hospital and Health 
Boards Act 2011. The HHS is responsible for providing primary health, community and health services and hospital services in the area 
assigned under the Hospital and Health Boards Regulation 2012. 

Funding is obtained predominately through the purchase of health services by the Department of Health (DOH) on behalf of both the State and 
Australian Governments. In addition, health services are provided on a fee for service basis mainly for private patient care. 

The Hospital and Health Service is controlled by the State of Queensland which is the ultimate parent. 

The head office and principal place of business of WBHHS is: 

c/- Bundaberg Hospital 
PO Box 34 
Bundaberg QLD 4670 

For information in relation to the Hospital and Health Service's financial statement please visit the website www.health.qld.gov.au/widebay.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 
The financial statements: 

- have been prepared in compliance with section 62(1) of the Financial Accountability Act 2009 and section 43 of the Financial and 
Performance Management Standard 2009;

- are general purpose financial statement prepared on a historical cost basis, except where stated otherwise; 
- are presented in Australian dollars; 
- have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 or, where the amount is $500 or less, to zero unless the disclosure of the full amount is 

specifically required; 
- present reclassified comparative information where required for consistency with the current year’s presentation 
- have been prepared in accordance with all applicable new and amended Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretation as well

at the Queensland Treasury’s Minimum Reporting Requirements for the year ended 30 June 2016, and other authoritative 
pronouncements.

AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ISSUE 
The general purpose financial statements are authorised for issue by the Chair, the Chief Executive and the Chief Financial Officer at the date of 
signing the Management Certificate. 
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A1 REVENUE (continued) 

A1-3 Other revenue 
2016 2015 
$'000 $'000

Contract staff recoveries 3,814 2,857 
General recoveries 391 4,256 
Interest 56 63
Other revenue 220 321
Total 4,481 7,497 

Other revenue primarily reflects recoveries of payments for contracted staff from third parties such as universities and other government 
agencies as well as recoveries of insurance claims from the Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF). Revenue recognition for other 
revenue is based on either invoicing for related goods, services and/or the recognition of accrued revenue based on estimated volumes of 
goods or services delivered.

A2 EXPENSES 

A2-1 Employee expenses 
2016 2015 
$'000 $'000

Employee benefits 
Wages and salaries 46,753 39,526 
Annual leave levy 3,124 2,384 
Employer superannuation contributions 3,333 2,950 
Long service leave levy 954 816

Total 54,164 45,676 

Employee expenses represent the cost of engaging board members and the employment of health executives, Senior Medical and Visiting 
Medical Officers who are employed directly by WBHHS. 

The number of employees including both full-time employees and part-time employees measured on a full-time equivalent basis (reflecting 
Minimum Obligatory Human Resource Information (MOHRI)) is: 

2016 2015 
Number of WBHHS Employees (FTE) 140 127

A2-2 Health Service Employees (FTE) 

In accordance with the Hospital and Health Boards Act 2011, the employees of the Department of Health are referred to as Health service 
employees. Under this arrangement –  

 The department provides employees to perform work for WBHHS and acknowledges and accepts it obligations as the employer of 
these employees 

 WBHHS is responsible for the day to day management of these departmental employees 
 WBHHS reimburses the department for the salaries and on-costs of these employees. 

WBHHS discloses the reimbursement of these costs as Health service employee expenses. 

WBHHS pays premiums to WorkCover Queensland in respect of its obligations for employee compensation. 

Workers’ compensation insurance is a consequence of employing employees, but is not counted in an employee’s total remuneration package.

2016 2015 
Number of Health Service Employees (FTE) 2,783 2,723 
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A2 EXPENSES (continued) 

A2-3 Supplies and services 
2016 2015 
$'000 $'000

Clinical supplies and services 26,283 23,544 
Outsourced supplies and services 19,692 10,362 
Consultants and contractors# 23,416 28,189 
Drugs 20,654 15,275 
Pathology 10,822 11,657 
Repairs and maintenance including minor capital works 7,905 8,922 
Catering and domestic supplies 5,767 5,495 
Patient travel ## 17,568 18,158 
Other travel 2,561 2,634 
Electricity and other energy 4,688 4,026 
Operating lease rentals 3,853 3,298 
Motor vehicles 478 1,192 
Communications 5,145 5,118 
Computer services 1,905 1,986 
Insurance 5,163 5,163 
Other 12,257 10,023 
Total 168,157 155,042 

# Consultants and contractors includes $16.8 million (2015 $19.8 million) for locum medical staff. 
## Includes payments for aeromedical services and ambulance fees $9.8million (2015 $10.8 million). 

WBHHS receives corporate services support from the Department at no cost.  Corporate services received include payroll services, finance 
transactional services (including accounts payable), banking services, administrative services and taxation. 

The HHS’s non-current physical assets and other risks are insured through the Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF), premiums
being paid on a risk assessment basis. 

Certain losses of public property are insured with QGIF. The claims made in respect of these losses have yet to be assessed by QGIF and the 
amount recoverable cannot be estimated reliably at reporting date. Upon notification by QGIF of the acceptance of the claims, revenue will be 
recognised for the agreed settlement amount and disclosed as Other Revenues. 

A2-4 Other expenses 
2016 2015 
$'000 $'000

Inventory written off 44 6
Losses from the disposal of non-current assets 362 219
Special payments  96 106
Other legal costs 284 394
Journals and subscriptions 34 54
Advertising 171 151
Other 410 406

1,401 1,336 

Other includes audit fees paid or payable of $174 thousand in the 2015-16 year to the Queensland Audit Office (2015: $174 thousand).  

Occasionally WBHHS makes a special (ex-gratia) payment even though it is not contractually or legally obligated to make such payments to 
other parties. WBHHS maintains a register of all special payments greater than $5,000. This includes one payment over $5,000 to a member of 
the public relating to a compensation payment ($15,000). 
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B2 RECEIVABLES (continued) 

B2-2 Impairment of Receivables 

(i) Disclosure - Ageing of impaired trade receivables 
2016 2015 

Gross
Receivables 

Allowance 
for

Impairment 
Carrying 
Amount 

Gross
Receivables 

Allowance 
for

Impairment 
Carrying 
Amount 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Overdue 
Not yet due 10,273 - 10,273 8,563 - 8,563 
Less than 30 days 1,476 - 1,476 1,337 - 1,337 
30 to 60 days 772 (23) 749 681 - 681
61 to 90 days 509 (20) 489 519 - 519
Greater than 90 days 1,054 (311) 743 1,888 (358) 1,530 
Total overdue 14,084 (354) 13,730 12,988 (358) 12,630 

(ii) Disclosure - Movement in Allowance for Impairment for Impaired Receivables 
2016 2015 
$'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 358 227
Amounts written off during the year (472) (286) 
Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in operating result 468 417
Balance at 30 June 354 358

B3 INVENTORIES

Inventories consist mainly of clinical supplies and pharmaceuticals held for distribution in hospitals and are provided to public admitted patients 
free of charge except for pharmaceuticals which are provided at a subsidised rate.  Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value.  Cost is assigned on a weighted average cost, adjusted where applicable, for any loss of service potential. 
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B4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RELATED DEPRECIATION 

B4-1 Property, Plant and Equipment - Balances and Reconciliations of Carrying Amount 
Property, Plant and Equipment 
Reconciliation Land Buildings 

Plant and 
equipment 

Capital works 
in progress Total 

(at fair value) (at fair value) (at cost) (at cost) 
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Year ended 30 June 2015 
Opening net book value 16,373 137,347 23,342 907 177,969 
Acquisitions 169 7,765 4,143 2,592 14,669 
Disposals - - (326) - (326) 
Transfers in/(out) (3,797) (3,961) 15 - (7,743) 
Transfers between classes - 1,424 (80) (1,344) 0
Revaluation increments/(decrements) - 12,982 - - 12,982 
Depreciation charge for the year - (8,121) (4,241) - (12,362) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2015 12,746 147,437 22,853 2,155 185,191 
At 30 June 2015 
At cost/fair value 12,746 341,646 49,210 2,155 405,757 
Accumulated depreciation - (194,209) (26,357) - (220,566) 

Year ended 30 June 2016 
Opening net book value 12,746 147,437 22,853 2,155 185,191 
Acquisitions - - 7,157 2,408 9,565 
Disposals - - (457) - (457) 
Transfers in/(out) - 33,747 (6) - 33,741 
Transfers between classes - 2,588 186 (2,774) -
Revaluation increments/(decrements) 2,334 (1,053) - - 1,281 
Depreciation charge for the year - (10,452) (4,883) - (15,335) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 2016 15,080 172,267 24,850 1,789 213,986 
At 30 June 2016 
At cost/fair value 15,080 383,919 50,019 1,789 450,807 
Accumulated depreciation - (211,652) (25,169) - (236,821) 

B4-2 Accounting Policies 

Recognition thresholds for property, plant and equipment 

Items of a capital nature with a cost or other value equal to more than the following thresholds and with a useful life of more than one year are 
recognised at acquisition. Items below these values are expensed on acquisition. 

Class Threshold 
Buildings and Land Improvements $10,000 
Land $1 
Plant and Equipment $5,000 

WBHHS has a comprehensive annual maintenance program for its buildings. Expenditure is only capitalised if it increases the service potential 
or useful life of the existing asset. Maintenance expenditure that merely restores original service potential (arising from ordinary wear and tear) 
is expensed. 

Acquisition of Assets 

Actual cost is used for the initial recording of all non-current physical asset acquisitions.  Cost is determined as the value given as consideration 
plus costs incidental to the acquisition, including all other costs incurred in getting the assets ready for use.  However, any training costs are 
expensed as incurred. 

Where assets are received free of charge from another Queensland Government entity (whether as a result of a machinery-of-Government 
change or other involuntary transfer), the acquisition cost is recognised at the gross carrying amount in the books of the transferor immediately 
prior to the transfer together with any accumulated depreciation. 

Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, other than from an involuntary transfer from another Queensland Government entity, 
are recognised at their fair value at date of acquisition in accordance with AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment. 

Land improvements undertaken by WBHHS are included with buildings. 
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B4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RELATED DEPRECIATION (continued) 
Subsequent measurement of property, plant and equipment 

Land and buildings are subsequently measured at fair value as required by Queensland Treasury’s Non-Current Asset Policies for the 
Queensland Public Sector.  These assets are reported at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of valuation, less any 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses where applicable. The cost of items acquired 
during the financial year has been judged by management to materially represent their fair value at the end of the reporting period.

Plant and equipment is measured at cost net of accumulated depreciation and any impairment in accordance with Queensland Treasury’s 
Non-Current Asset Policies for the Queensland Public Sector. The carrying amounts for such plant and equipment at cost is not materially 
different from their fair value. 

Depreciation  

Property, plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis progressively over its estimated useful life to the HHS. Land is not 
depreciated. Assets under construction (work-in-progress) are not depreciated until they are ready for use. 

Key Judgement: Any expenditure that increases the originally assessed capacity or service potential of an asset is capitalised and the 
new depreciable amount is depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset to the department.  

Key estimate - Management estimates the useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment based on the expected 
period of time over which economic benefits from use of the asset will be derived. Management reviews useful life assumptions on an 
annual basis having given consideration to variables including historical and forecast usage rates, technological advancements and 
changes in legal and economic conditions. 

For each class of depreciable assets, the following depreciation rates were used: 

Class Depreciation rates 
Buildings (including land 
improvements) 

1.0% - 5.88% 

Plant and Equipment 3.3% - 20.0% 

Impairment of non-current assets 

Key Judgement and Estimate: All non-current physical assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis.  If an 
indicator of possible impairment exists, the HHS determines the asset's recoverable amount.  Any amount by which the asset's carrying 
amount exceeds the recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment loss. 

The asset's recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost 

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount.  When the asset is measured at a revalued amount, the impairment loss is offset against the asset revaluation surplus of the 
relevant class to the extent available. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable 
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.  A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income, unless the asset 
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase. 

Revaluations of non-current physical assets 

Land and buildings are revalued on an annual basis by an independent professional expert or by the use of appropriate and relevant
indices.  For financial reporting purposes, the revaluation process for WBHHS is managed by the Finance Unit with input from the CFO. The
appointment of the independent expert was undertaken following pre-approval through a Department of Health process. The Building,
Engineering, Maintenance Service (BEMS) Unit provides assistance to the quantity surveyors. 

The fair values reported by WBHHS are based on appropriate valuation techniques that maximises the use of available and relevant observable 
inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. 

Revaluations using independent professional experts are undertaken at least once every five years. However, if a particular asset class 
experiences significant and volatile changes in fair value, that class is subject to specific appraisal in the reporting period, where 
practicable, regardless of the timing of the last specific appraisal. 

Where assets have not been specifically appraised in the reporting period, their previous valuations are materially kept up-to-date via the 
application of relevant indices.  WBHHS uses indices to provide a valid estimation of the assets' fair values at reporting date.

The expert supplies the indices used for the various types of assets.  Such indices are either publicly available, or are derived from market 
information available to the expert.  The expert provides assurance of their robustness, validity and appropriateness for application to the 
relevant assets.  Indices used are also tested for reasonableness by applying the indices to a sample of assets, comparing the results to 
similar assets that have been valued by the expert, and analysing the trend of changes in values over time. Through this process, which is 
undertaken annually, management assesses and confirms the relevance and suitability of indices provided by the expert based on the 
entities own particular circumstances.  
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B4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RELATED DEPRECIATION (continued) 
Revaluation increments are credited to the asset revaluation surplus account of the appropriate class, except to the extent it reverses a 
revaluation decrement for the class previously recognised as an expense.  A decrease in the carrying amount on revaluation is charged as 
an expense, to the extent it exceeds the balance, if any, in the revaluation surplus relating to that asset class. 

WBHHS has adopted the gross method of reporting revalued assets. 

B4-3 Valuation of Property, Plant and Equipment including Key Estimates and Judgements 

Land 

During the 2015-16 year WBHHS engaged the services of the State Valuation Service (SVS) to undertake a comprehensive independent
valuation of all land held to determine the fair value as at 30 June 2016. The last known comprehensive valuation of land was undertaken 
by the Department in 2011, with indices being provided by SVS in the ensuing years. 

The fair value of land was based on publicly available data on sales of similar land in nearby localities in the six months prior to the date of 
the revaluation. In determining the values, adjustments were made to the sales data to take into account the location of the HHS’s land, its 
size, street/road frontage and access, and any significant restrictions. 

The valuations for 2015-16 resulted in a revaluation increment of $2.33 million to the carrying value of land (2015:$0)

Buildings 

A new 4 year rolling building valuation program was developed during 2015-16 based on major geographical locations of building and land 
improvement assets (i.e Maryborough, Bundaberg, Hervey Bay and Rurals). As a result of this program, all buildings and land 
improvement assets with a cost threshold of $500,000 (represents 97% NBV of asset class) will be comprehensively valued by 
independent quantity surveyors, AECOM (formerly David Langdon). 

In 2016 the Maryborough building and land improvement assets were valued. Indices were provided for all other building and land
improvement assets located in Bundaberg, Hervey Bay and the Rurals. 

The independent valuation for 2015-16 resulted in a net decrement to the building portfolio of $1.05 million (2015: $12.98 million
increment) and to the asset revaluation surplus account. This is a decrease of 0.1% to the value of buildings as at 30 June 2016. No 
adjustment was made to the building portfolio in respect of buildings not subject to independent valuation through the application of 
indexation due to no change in the index rate for 2016 and the cumulative index rate of 0.95% since 2012/13 being immaterial.  

Key Judgement and Estimate: The methodology applied by the expert is a financial simulation in lieu of a market based measurement as 
these assets cannot be bought and sold on the open market.  A replacement or reproduction cost is estimated by creating a cost plan (cost 
estimate) of the asset through the measurement of key quantities such as: 

- Gross floor area  

- Number of floors 

- Girth of the building 

- Height of the building 

- Number of lifts and staircases 

- Location 

The model developed by the expert creates an elemental cost plan using these quantities. It can apply to multiple building types and relies 
on the expert’s experience of managing construction costs. 

The cost model is updated each year and tests are done to compare the model outputs on actual recent projects to ensure it produces a 
true representation of the cost of replacement or reproduction.  The costs are at Brisbane prices and published location indices are used to 
adjust the pricing to suit local market conditions.  Live project costs from across the state are also assessed to inform current market 
changes that may influence the published factors. 

The key assumption on the replacement cost is that the estimate is based on replacing the current function of the building with a building 
of the same form (size and shape).  This assumption has a significant impact if an asset’s function changes. The cost to bring to current 
standards is the estimated cost of refurbishing the asset to bring it to current standards.  

The cost to bring to current standards or as new condition is a component for establishing the likely ‘exit price’ of any transaction in the 
principal market for an asset of this type.  For each of the five condition ratings, the estimate is based on professional opinion as well as 
having regard to historical project costs. 

In assessing the cost to bring to current standard or as new condition, a condition rating is applied based upon the following information: 

- Visual inspection of the asset 

- Asset condition data  

- Verbal guidance from the asset manager 

- Previous reports and inspection photographs if available (to show the change in condition over time). 

The following condition ratings are linked to the cost to bring to current standards or as new condition: 
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B4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RELATED DEPRECIATION (continued) 

Category Condition Comments 

1 Very good condition Only normal maintenance required 

2 Minor defects only Minor maintenance required 

3 Maintenance required to return to accepted 
level of service 

Significant maintenance required (up to 50% of capital 
replacement cost) 

4 Requires renewal Complete renewal of the internal fit out and engineering 
services required (up to 70% of capital replacement cost) 

5 Asset unserviceable Complete asset replacement required 

Estimates of remaining life are based on the assumption that the asset remains in its current function and will be maintained.  No 
allowance has been provided for significant refurbishment works in the estimate of remaining life as any refurbishment should extend the 
life of the asset.  

Buildings have been valued on the basis that there is no residual value. 

B4-4 Fair Value Measurement 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date under current market conditions (ie. an exit price) regardless of whether the price is directly derived from observable inputs or 
estimated using another valuation technique. 

Observable inputs are publicly available data that are relevant to the characteristics of the assets/liabilities being valued, and include, but 
are not limited to, published sales data for land. 

Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgements that are not available publicly, but are relevant to the characteristics of the 
assets/liabilities being valued.   Significant unobservable inputs used by WBHHS include, but are not limited to, subjective adjustments 
made to observable data to take account of the specialised nature of health service buildings and on hospital-site residential facilities, 
including historical and current construction contracts (and/or estimates of such costs), and assessments of physical condition and 
remaining useful life.  Unobservable inputs are used to the extent that sufficient relevant and reliable observable inputs are not available 
for similar assets/liabilities. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefit by using 
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

All assets and liabilities of WBHHS for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the 
following fair value hierarchy, based on the data and assumptions used in the most recent specific appraisals: 

- Level 1: represents fair value measurements that reflect unadjusted quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets
and liabilities; 

- Level 2:  represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from inputs (other than quoted prices included in level 
1) that are observable, either directly or indirectly; and 

- Level 3:  represents fair value measurements that are substantially derived from unobservable inputs. 

None of WBHHS’s valuations of assets are eligible for categorisation into level 1 of the fair value hierarchy and there were no transfer of 
assets between fair value hierarchy levels during the period.  

B4-5 Categorisation of Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value 
2016 2015 
$'000 $'000

Land - Level 2 15,080 12,746 
Buildings - Level 3 172,267 147,437 
Total 187,347 160,183 
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B4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND RELATED DEPRECIATION (continued) 

B4-6 Level 3 Fair Value Measurement - Reconciliation 
Buildings 

2016 2015 
$'000 $'000

Carrying amount at 1 July 147,437 137,347 
Acquisition  major infrastructure transfers 33,747 7,765 
Transfers out to other Queensland Government entities - (3,961) 
Transfer between asset classes 2,588 1,424 
Revaluation increment/(decrement) (1,053) 12,982 
Depreciation charge (10,452) (8,121) 
Carrying amount at 30 June 172,267 147,437 

B5 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

B5-1 Accounting Policies 

Intangible assets with a cost or other value equal to or greater than $100,000 are recognised in the financial statements. Items with a lesser 
value are expensed.  Each intangible asset, less any anticipated residual value, is amortised on a straight line basis over its estimated useful life 
to the HHS.  The residual value is zero for all the HHS’s intangible assets. 

As there is no active market for any of the HHS’s intangible assets, the assets are recognised and carried at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses. 

Purchased software is amortised from the time of acquisition or, in respect of internally developed software, from the time the asset is completed 
and held ready for use.  

Key Estimate: The amortisation rate for WBHHS’s software is 20%. 

B6 PAYABLES 

B6-1 Trade and other payables 
2016 2015 
$'000 $'000

Trade creditors 3,036 2,657 
Accrued expenses 11,402 6,003 
Department of Health payables 9,440 11,815 
Total 23,878 20,475 

Payables are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods and services already received. Trade creditors are measured at the 
agreed purchase/contract price, gross of applicable trade and other discounts.  The amounts are unsecured and normally settled within 30 - 60 
days. Trade and accruals are presented as current liabilities as payment is due within 12 months from the reporting date.  

B7 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

B7-1 Accounting Policies 

Hospital and Health Service's directly engaged employees 

WBHHS classifies salaries and wages, rostered days-off, sick leave, annual leave and long service leave levies and employer superannuation 
contributions as employee benefits in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits. Wages and salaries due but unpaid at reporting date are 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at current salary rates.   As WBHHS expects such liabilities to be wholly settled within 12 
months of reporting date, the liabilities are recognised at undiscounted amounts. 

Prior history indicates that on average, sick leave taken each reporting period is less than the entitlement accrued. This is expected to continue 
in future periods.  Accordingly, it is unlikely that existing accumulated entitlements will be used by employees and no liability for unused sick 
leave entitlements is recognised.  As sick leave is non-vesting, an expense is recognised for this leave as it is taken. 
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19. Right of private practice

2015 2014
$'000 $'000

Receipts

Billings - (Doctors and Visiting Medical Officers) 8,003 9,114           

Total receipts 8,003 9,114           

Payments

Payments to Doctors 10,787 10,754         

WBHHS recoverable administrative costs 116 125              

WBHHS Education/travel fund 10 37                
Total payments 10,913 10,916         

Increase/(decrease) in net right of private practice assets (2,910) (1,802)

20. Fiduciary trust transactions and balances

2015 2014

Patient Trust receipts and payments $'000 $'000

Yaralla Place Aged Care Patient Trust receipts - 262
Bundaberg Health Service District Patient Trust receipts 100 80

Total receipts 100 342              

Yaralla Place Aged Care Patient Trust payments - 396

Bundaberg Health Service District Patient Trust payments 85 101

Total payments 85 497

Patient trust assetsYaralla Place Aged Care Patient Trust cash at bank - - 

Bundaberg HSD Patient Trust cash at bank 35 20

Total current assets 35 20

21. Financial Instruments

(a) Categorisation of financial instruments

WBHHS has the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities:

Category Note 2015 2014

$'000 $'000

Financial assetsCash and cash equivalents * 11. 5,977 13,852
Trade and other receivables 12. 12,630 11,719

18,607 25,571

Financial liabilitiesTrade and other payables 14. 20,475 28,392

20,475 28,392

* WBHHS has access to the Whole-of-Government debit facility with limits approved by Queensland Treasury and Trade.

Under the right of private practice scheme, Senior Medical Officers (SMOs) employed in the public health system are 
permitted to treat individuals who elect to be treated as private patients.  In order to do so, the SMOs receive a private 
practice allowance and in return assign any private practice revenue to the Hospital (Option A).  A variation of this model 
allows the SMOs to pay a facility charge and administration fee to the Hospital and to retain a proportion of the private 
practice revenue (Option B).  The remaining revenue is deposited into a trust account to fund research and education of all 
staff.  Receipts and payments relating to right of private practice (Option A & B) during the financial year were as follows:

WBHHS acts in a custodial role in respect of these transactions and balances.  As such, they are not recognised in the 
financial statements, but are disclosed below for information purposes.  The activities of trust accounts are audited by the 
Queensland Audit Office (QAO) on an annual basis.  

WIDE BAY HOSPITAL AND HEALTH SERVICE

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
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B7 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued) 
Workers' compensation insurance is a consequence of employing employees, but is not counted in an employee's total remuneration package.  
It is not an employee benefit and is recognised separately as employee related expenses. 

Annual and long service leave 

Under the Queensland Government’s Annual Leave Central Scheme and Long Service Leave Central Scheme, levies are payable to cover the 
cost of employees’ annual leave (including leave loading and on-costs) and long service leave. No provision for annual leave and long service 
leave is recognised in WBHHS’s financial statements as a liability is held on a whole-of-government basis and reported in those financial 
statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting. These levies are expensed in 
the period in which they are paid or payable. Amounts paid to employees for annual leave and long service leave are claimed from the schemes 
quarterly in arrears.  

Superannuation 

Employer superannuation contributions are paid to QSuper, the superannuation scheme for Queensland Government employees, at rates
determined by the Treasurer on the advice of the State Actuary.  Contributions are expensed in the period in which they are paid or payable and 
WBHHS’s obligation is limited to its contribution to QSuper.  The QSuper scheme has defined benefit and defined contribution categories.  The 
liability for defined benefits is held on a whole-of-government basis and reported in those financial statements pursuant to AASB 1049 Whole of 
Government and General Government Sector Financial Reporting. 

Board members and Visiting Medical Officers are offered a choice of superannuation funds and WBHHS pays superannuation contributions into 
a complying superannuation fund.  Contributions are expensed in the period in which they are paid or payable.  WBHHS's obligation is limited to 
its contribution to the superannuation fund. Therefore no liability is recognised for accruing superannuation benefits in the Hospital and Health 
Service's financial statements. 

B8 EQUITY 

B8-1 Contributed Equity 
2016 2015 
$'000 $'000

Opening balance at beginning of year 172,774 177,694 
Non-appropriated equity injections 

Capital funding 9,211 7,256 
Non-appropriated equity withdrawals 

Non-cash depreciation funding returned to Department of Health as a contribution towards capital 
works program (15,339) (12,366) 
Equity asset transfers 

Land (3,627) 
Buildings 33,747 3,800 
Other (6) 17

Balance at the end of the financial year 200,387 172,774 

Non-reciprocal transfers of assets and liabilities between wholly-owned Queensland State Public Sector entities as a result of machinery-
of-government changes are adjusted to contributed equity in accordance with Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to 
Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities. Appropriations for equity adjustments are similarly designated. 

WBHHS receives funding from DoH to cover depreciation costs. However, as depreciation is a non-cash expenditure item, the Minister of 
Health has approved a withdrawal of equity by the State for the same amount, resulting in non-cash revenue and non-cash equity 
withdrawal.

B8-2 Asset revaluation surplus 
2016 2015 
$'000 $'000

Land 
Balance at the beginning of the financial year - -
Revaluation increments 2,334 -
Buildings 
Balance at the beginning of the financial year 13,773 791
Revaluation increments (1,053) 12,982 
Balance at the end of the financial year 15,055 13,773 
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C1 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 (d) Fair value measurements 

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value. All other financial assets or liabilities are measured at cost less any allowance for 
impairment, which given the short term nature of these assets, is assumed to represent fair value.  

Ageing of past due but not impaired financial assets are disclosed in the following tables: 

C2 CONTINGENCIES  
Litigation in Progress 

As at 30 June 2016, the following cases were filed in the courts naming the State of Queensland acting through the Wide Bay Hospital and 
Health Service as defendant: 

2016 2015 
Number of 

cases 
Number of  

cases 

Supreme Court - -
District Court  2 -
Magistrates Court - -
Tribunals, commissions and boards 1 -

3 -
Health litigation is underwritten by the Queensland Government Insurance Fund (QGIF). WBHHS’s liability in this area is limited to an excess 
per insurance event of $20 thousand. As at 30 June 2016, WBHHS has 33 claims currently managed by QGIF, some of which may never be 
litigated or result in payments to claims (excluding initial notices under Personal Injuries Proceedings Act). 

It is not possible to make a reliable estimate for the final amount payable, if any, in respect of the litigation before the courts at this time. 

C3 COMMITMENTS 
(a) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments 

Commitment for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows: 

2016 2015 
$'000 $'000

Operating Leases 
No later than 1 year 2,859 2,831 
Later than 1 year but no later than 5 years 4,742 6,076 
Later than 5 years - -
Total 7,601 8,907 
WBHHS has non-cancellable operating leases relating predominantly to office and residential accommodation. Lease payments are generally 
fixed, but with escalation clauses on which contingent rentals are determined. No lease arrangements contain restrictions on financing or other 
leasing activities. 

(b) Capital and operating expenditure commitments 

Commitments for capital and operating expenditure contracted for at reporting date but not recognised in the financial statements are payable 
as follows: 

2016 2015 
$'000 $'000

Plant and Equipment 
No later than 1 year 1,102 965
Later than 1 year but no later than 5 years 172 46
Later than 5 years - -
Total 1,274 1,011 
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D1 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (continued) 
Board remuneration 

The Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service is independently and locally controlled by the Hospital and Health Board (Board).  The Board 
appoints the health service chief executive and exercises significant responsibilities at a local level, including controlling (a) the financial 
management of the Service and the management of the Service's land and buildings (section 7 Hospital and Health Board Act 2011). 

Remuneration paid or owing to board members was as follows: 

Board Member 
(non-executive) 

Financial 
Year

Short Term Employee Expenses Post
employment 

expenses 
Total 

remuneration Base 
Non-monetary 

expenses 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Dominic Devine (Chairperson) 2016 84 - 8 92
14 June 2013 2015 88 - 8 96
Barbara Hovard (Deputy Chair) 2016 48 - 4 52
29 June 2012 2015 52 - 5 57
Gary Kirk 2016 49 - 5 54
1 June 2012 2015 51 - 5 56
Joy Jensen 2016 48 - 4 52
18 May 2013 2015 48 - 4 52
Paul Dare 2016 54 - 4 58
18 May 2013 2015 47 - 4 51
Christopher Hyne 2016 48 - 4 52
18 May 2013 2015 48 - 4 52
George Plint 2016 43 - 4 47
18 May 2014 2015 42 - 4 46
Bryan Burmeister 2016 41 - 5 46
18 May 2014 2015 44 - 4 48
Peta Jamieson 2016 42 - 4 46
26 June 2015 2015 - - - -
Rowan Bond 2016 - - - -
18 May 2014 to 17 May 2015 2015 41 - 5 46
Ralph Coles 2016 - - - -
18 May 2014 to 17 May 2015 2015 48 - 4 52
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D2 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
Parent entity 

Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service is controlled by the State of Queensland which is the ultimate parent entity. 

Key Management personnel 

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set in Note D1. 

Transactions with related parties 

There were no transactions with related parties during the financial year 

Receivable from and payable to related parties 

There were no trade receivables from or trade payables to related parties at the reporting date. 

Loans to/from related parties 

There were no loans to or from related parties at the reporting date. 
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E3 RESTRICTED ASSETS 
WBHHS holds a number of General Trust accounts which meet the definitions of restricted assets. These accounts require that the associated 
income is only utilised for the purposes specified by the issuing body. 

WBHHS receives cash contributions from benefactors in the form of gifts, donations and bequests for stipulated purposes. Contributions are 
also received from private practice clinicians and from external entities to provide for education, study and research in clinical areas. 

2016 2015 
$'000 $'000

Restricted assets 
Opening balance 1,611 1,752 
Income 172 214
Expenditure 477 355
Closing balance 1,306 1,611 

E4 TAXATION 
WBHHS is a State body as defined under the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 and is exempt from Commonwealth taxation with the 
exception of Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) and Goods and Services Tax (GST). FBT and GST are the only Commonwealth taxes recognised
by WBHHS.  

Both WBHHS and the Department of Health satisfy section 149-25(e) of the A New Tax System (Goods and Services) Act 1999 (Cth) (the 
GST Act) and were able, with other hospital and health services, to form a “group” for GST purposes under Division 149 of the GST Act. 
This means that any transactions between the members of the "group" do not attract GST. 

E5 FIRST YEAR APPLICATION OF NEW STANDARDS OR CHANGE IN POLICY 

Changes in accounting policy

WBHHS did not voluntarily change any of its accounting policies during 2015-16. 

Accounting standards early adopted for 2015-16 

Two Australian Accounting Standards have been early adopted for the 2015-16 year as required by Queensland Treasury.  These are:

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, AASB 101, 
AASB 134 & AASB 1049

The amendments arising from this standard seek to improve financial reporting by providing flexibility as to the ordering of notes, the 
identification and location of significant accounting policies and the presentation of sub-totals, and provides clarity on aggregating line 
items.  It also emphasizes only including material disclosures in the notes.  WBHHS has applied this flexibility in preparing the 2015-16 
financial statements, including co-locating significant accounting policies with the related breakdowns of financial figures in the notes. 

AASB 2015-7Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities [AASB 13]

This standard amends AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and provides relief to not-for-profit public sector entities from certain disclosures 
about property, plant and equipment that is primarily held for its current service potential rather than to generate future net cash inflows.  
The relief applies to assets under AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment which are measured at fair value and categorised within Level 
3 of the fair value hierarchy). 

As a result, the following disclosures are no longer required for those assets.  In early adopting the amendments, the following disclosures 
have been removed from the 2015-16 financial statements: 

 disaggregation of certain gains/losses on assets reflected in the operating result; 
 quantitative information about the significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement; and 
 a description of the sensitivity of the fair value measurement to changes in the unobservable inputs. 

Accounting Standards Applied for the First Time in 2015-16 

No new Australian Accounting Standards effective for the first time in 2015-16 had any material impact on this financial report.
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E6 FUTURE IMPACT OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the expected impacts of new or amended Australian Accounting Standards issued but 
with future commencement dates are set out below: 

AASB 124 - Related Party Disclosures 

Effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016, a revised version of AASB 124 will apply to the HHS.  AASB 124 
requires disclosures about the remuneration of key management personnel (KMP), transactions with related parties, and relationships 
between parent and controlled entities. 

The WBHHS already discloses detailed information about remuneration of its KMP, based on Queensland Treasury’s Financial Reporting 
Requirements for Queensland Government Agencies.  Due to the additional guidance about the KMP definition in the revised AASB 124, 
the HHS will be assessing whether its responsible Minister should be part of its KMP from 2016-17.  If the responsible Minister is assessed 
as meeting the KMP definition, no associated remuneration figures will be disclosed by the HHS, as it does not provide the Minister’s 
remuneration.  Comparative information will continue to be disclosed in respect of KMP remuneration. 

The most significant implications of AASB 124 for the HHS are the required disclosures about transactions between the HHS and its 
related parties (as defined in AASB 124).  For any such transactions, from 2016-17, disclosures will include the nature of the related party 
relationship, as well as information about those transactions’ terms/conditions and amounts, any guarantees given/received, outstanding
receivables/ payables, commitments, and any receivables where collection has been assessed as being doubtful.  In respect of related 
party transactions with other Queensland Government controlled entities, the information disclosed will be more high level, unless a 
transaction is individually significant.  No comparative information is required in respect of related party transactions in the 2016-17 
financial statements. 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers  

This Standard will become effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 and contains much more detailed
requirements for the accounting for certain types of revenue from customers.  Depending on the specific contractual terms, the new
requirements may potentially result in a change to the timing of revenue from sales of the HHS’s goods and services, such that some 
revenue may need to be deferred to a later reporting period to the extent that the HHS has received cash but has not met its associated 
obligations (such amounts would be reported as a liability (unearned revenue) in the meantime).  The HHS is yet to complete its analysis 
of current arrangements for sale of its goods and services, but at this stage does not expect a significant impact on its present accounting 
practices.   

AASB 9 Financial Instruments and AASB 2014-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) 

These Standards will become effective from reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The main impacts of these standards
on the HHS are that they will change the requirements for the classification, measurement, impairment and disclosures associated with the 
HHS’s financial assets.  AASB 9 will introduce different criteria for whether financial assets can be measured at amortised cost or fair 
value.

The HHS is yet to fully assess the impact of these standards, however, given the nature of and limited extent of financial instruments held, 
the impact is expected to be minimal.  

All other Australian accounting standards and interpretations with future commencement dates are either not applicable to the WBHHS’s  
activities, or have no material impact on the department. 

AASB 16 Leases 

AASB 16 Leases will become effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019 and will replace AASB 117 Leases,
AASB Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, AASB Interpretation 115 Operating Leases – Incentives
and AASB Interpretation 127 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease.  

Unlike AASB 117, AASB 16 introduces a single lease accounting model for lessees. Lessees will be required to recognise a right-of-use 
asset (representing the right to use the underlying leased asset) and a liability (representing the obligation to make future lease payments) 
for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying assets are of low value.  This will result in operating leases being 
reported under the Statement of Financial Position under AASB 16, resulting in an increase in assets and liabilities.  The right of use asset 
will be initially recorded at cost and will result in depreciation expense.  The lease liability will be initially recognised at an amount equal to 
the present value of the lease payments during the lease term not yet paid.  Expenses for operating leases will no longer be recorded in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income but will be recorded as a reduction in lease liability. 

E7 PRIOR PERIOD ERRORS AND ADJUSTMENTS 
In preparation of the 2015-16 financial statements, the HHS identified certain items of revenue and expenditure that were incorrectly measured 
in the financial statements as at 30 June 2015. Management and the Board have assessed these in accordance with AASB 108 Accounting 
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors and have concluded that these items are not material either individually or collectively 
and do not require restatement of prior year comparatives and have been included in the 2015-16 operating result. 

E8 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE 
There are no matters or circumstances that have arisen since 30 June 2016 that have significantly affected, or may significantly affect WBHHS’s 
operations, the results of those operations, or the HHS’s state of affairs in future financial years. 
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 30 

F3 BUDGET TO ACTUAL COMPARISON – STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

F3-1 Budget to actual comparison - Statement of Financial Position 

Variance 

Original 
Budget 

Actual  
Result Variance 

2016 2016 

$'000

% of 
original 
budget Notes $'000 $'000

Current Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents  4 4,363 (4,840) (9,203) (211%) 
Trade and other receivables  5 11,958 13,730 1,772 15% 
Inventories 3,456 4,031 575 17% 
Other assets 274 432 158 58% 
Total Current Assets 20,051 13,353 (6,698) 

Non-Current Assets 
Property, plant and equipment  6 235,411 213,986 (21,425) (9%) 
Intangibles - 62 62 100% 
Total Non-Current Assets 235,411 214,048 (21,363) 

Total Assets 255,462 227,401 (28,061) 

Current Liabilities 
Trade and other payables  7 19,939 23,878 3,939 20% 
Accrued employees benefits 17 1,680 1,663 9,782% 
Unearned revenue 132 284 152 115% 
Total Current Liabilities 20,088 25,842 5,754 

Total Liabilities 20,088 25,842 5,754 

Net Assets 235,374 201,559 (33,815) 

Equity 
Contributed equity  8 215,116 200,387 (14,729) (7%) 
Accumulated surplus/(deficit)  9 110 (13,883) (13,993) (12,721%) 
Asset revaluation surplus  10 20,148 15,055 (5,093) (25%) 
Total Equity 235,374 201,559 (33,815) 

F3-2 Explanation of Major Variances - Statement of Financial Position 

4. Decrease in cash position largely reflects the reported deficit. 

5. Increase reflects higher accruals at year end relating to Commonwealth Growth funding accrued but not received at year end. 

6. Decrease reflects incorrect opening balance used in 2015-16 budget ($15m offset in Contributed Equity) together with lower than
budgeted revaluation increment reflecting general market conditions as well as deteriorating building condition. 

7. Increase reflects higher than budgeted accrued expenses at year end relating primarily for outsourced Ophthalmology services managed 
through DoH. 

8.     Decrease relates to incorrect opening balance for 2015-16 budget. Offsets Property, Plant and Equipment. 

9.      Reflects current year deficit. 

10.    Reflects lower than budgeted revaluation increment in current year.  
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F4 BUDGET TO ACTUAL COMPARISON – STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

F4-1 Budget to actual comparison - Statement of Cash Flows 

Variance 

Original 
Budget 

Actual  
Result Variance 

2016 2016 

$'000

% of 
original 
budget Notes $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities 
Inflows
User charges and fees  11 479,581 506,487 26,906 6% 
Grants and other contributions 5,708 4,323 (1,385) (24%) 
GST input tax credits from ATO 13,991 9,801 (4,190) (30%) 
GST collected from customers - 463 463 100% 
Other receipts 3,464 4,995 1,531 44% 

Outflows 
Employee expenses  12 (18,783) (53,470) (34,687) 185% 
Health service employee expenses  12 (314,882) (308,397) 6,485 (2%) 
Other supplies and services  13 (150,536) (163,620) (13,084) (9%) 
GST paid to suppliers (14,000) (9,801) 4,199 (30%) 
GST remitted to ATO - (449) (449) (100%) 
Other payments (733) (1,001) (268) 37% 
Net cash from/(used by) operating activities 3,810 (10,669) (14,479) 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Inflows
Sales of property, plant and equipment - 79 79 100% 

Outflows 
Payments for property, plant and equipment  14 (4,991) (9,438) (4,447) 89% 
Net cash from/(used by) investing activities (4,991) (9,359) (4,368) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Inflows
Equity injections 4,991 9,211 4,220 85% 

Outflows 
Equity withdrawals  15 (15,316) - (15,316) 100% 
Net cash from/(used by) financing activities (10,325) 9,211 19,536 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (11,506) (10,817) 689
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial 
year 15,869 5,977 (9,892) (62%) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial 
year 4,363 (4,840) (9,203) 

F4-2 Explanation of Major Variances - Statement of Cash Flows 

11. Increase reflects service agreement changes (ref Note 1) $44m offset by change in treatment of depreciation from cash to non cash $15m  
(offset in Equity withdrawals) and increase in receivables of $1.8m due to higher year end accruals. 

12. Consistent with movements in Statement of Comprehensive Income (note 2). 

13. Consistent with movements in Statement of Comprehensive Income (note 3) offset by movement in payables (note 7). 

14.    Increase relates primarily to 3 capital projects not included at the time of forming the original budget including; funds spent in 2015/16 
relating to prior year equity swap, capital planning costs for the new Hervey Bay emergency department and costs for the upgrade to the 
Gin Gin hospital facilities. 

15. Reflects change in treatment of depreciation from cash withdrawal to correct a non cash withdrawal offsetting non-cash depreciation. 
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Glossary of terms & acronyms 
Activity based funding (ABF): a management tool with 

the potential to enhance public accountability and drive 

technical efficiency in the delivery of health services by:

capturing consistent and detailed information

on hospital sector activity and accurately

measuring the costs of delivery

creating an explicit relationship between

funds allocated and services provided

strengthening management’s focus on

outputs, outcomes and quality

encouraging clinicians and managers to identify

variations in costs and practices so they can

be managed at a local level in the context of

improving efficiency and effectiveness

providing mechanisms to reward good

practice and support quality initiatives.

Acute: having a short and relatively severe course.

Acute care: care in which the clinical 

intent or treatment goal is to:

manage labour (obstetric)

cure illness or provide definitive treatment of injury

perform surgery

relieve symptoms of illness or injury

(excluding palliative care)

reduce severity of an illness or injury

protect against exacerbation and/or

complication of an illness and/or injury that

could threaten life or normal function

perform diagnostic or therapeutic procedures.

Acute hospital: generally a recognised 

hospital that provides acute care and excludes 

dental and psychiatric hospitals.

Admission: process whereby a hospital accepts 

responsibility for a patient’s care and/or treatment. It 

follows a clinical decision, based on specified criteria, 

that a patient requires same-day or overnight care or 

treatment, which can occur in hospital and/or in the 

patient’s home (for hospital-in-the-home patients).

Admitted patient: a patient who undergoes a hospital’s 

formal admission process as an overnight-stay patient or 

a same-day patient. Also may be referred to as ‘inpatient’.

Allied Health staff: professional staff who meet 

mandatory qualifications and regulatory requirements 

in the following areas – audiology; clinical measurement 

sciences; dietetics and nutrition; exercise physiology; 

leisure therapy; medical imaging; music therapy; 

nuclear medicine technology; occupational therapy; 

orthoptics; pharmacy; physiotherapy; podiatry; 

prosthetics and orthotics; psychology; radiation therapy; 

sonography; speech pathology and social work.

Average length of stay (ALOS): the average number 

of patient days for admitted patient episodes.

Bed days: the number of full or partial days of stay for 

patients who were admitted for an episode of care and 

who underwent separation during the reporting period.

Benchmarking: involves collecting performance 

information to undertake comparisons of 

performance with similar organisations.

Best practice: co-operative way in which organisations and 

their employees undertake business activities in all key 

processes, and use benchmarking that can be expected 

to lead to sustainable world class positive outcomes.

Burden of disease: a measure of population health that 

aims to quantify the gap between the ideal of living to old 

age in good health, and the current situation where healthy 

life is shortened by illness, injury, disability and premature 

death. 

Case mix: a tool that provides funding 

framework for clinical activity.

Clinical governance: a framework by which health 

organisations are accountable for continuously 

improving the quality of their services and safeguarding 

high standards of care by creating an environment 

in which excellence in clinical care will f lourish.

Attachment 2: Glossary of  terms
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Clinical practice: professional activity undertaken by 

health professionals to investigate patient symptoms 

and prevent and/or manage illness, together with 

associated professional activities for patient care.

Clinical Services Capability Framework (CSCF): 

CSCF has been designed to guide a co-ordinated and 

integrated approach to health service planning and 

delivery in Queensland. It applies to both public 

and licensed private health facilities and enhances 

the provision of safe, quality services by providing 

service planners and service providers with a 

standard set of minimum capability criteria.

Clinical workforce: staff who are or who support 

health professionals working in clinical practice, 

have healthcare specific knowledge/experience, 

and provide clinical services to health consumers, 

either directly and/or indirectly, through services 

that have a direct impact on clinical outcomes.

Decision support system (DSS): consolidates data suitable 

for finance, human resources, pharmacy and pathology 

related information for decision support purposes.

Demand: demand is the health service activity that 

a catchment population can generate. Where the 

current and projected incidence and prevalence of 

diseases and conditions are known (using evidence 

from epidemiological studies), this data can be used to 

estimate demand in the catchment population. However, 

in most institutional planning, demand is measured by 

analysing expressed need or the amount of healthcare 

that the catchment population actually utilises. Because 

utilisation is influenced by other factors (such as 

existing service availability, access, cost and so-called 

‘supplier-induced demand’), the resultant estimates of 

demand inherently incorporate elements of supply.

Emergency Department waiting time: time elapsed 

for each patient from presentation to the emergency 

department to start of services by the treating clinician. 

It is calculated by deducting the date and time the patient 

presents from the date and time of the service event.

Full-time equivalent (FTE): refers to full-time 

equivalent staff currently working in a position.

Health outcome: change in the health of an 

individual, group of people or population attributable 

to an intervention or series of interventions.

Health reform: response to the National Health 

and Hospitals Reform Commission Report 

(2009) that outlined recommendations for 

transforming the Australian health system

Health status: an individual’s or population’s overall 

level of health, taking into account various aspects 

such as life expectancy, amount of disability, 

levels of disease risk factors and so on.

Hospital: healthcare facility established under 

Commonwealth, state or territory legislation as a 

hospital or a free-standing day-procedure unit and 

authorised to provide treatment and/or care to patients.

Hospital and Health Boards: Hospital and 

Health Boards are made up of a mix of members 

with expert skills and knowledge relevant to 

managing a complex health care organisation.

Hospital and Health Service: Hospital and Health Service 

(HHS) is a separate legal entity established by Queensland 

Government to deliver public hospital services. 17 HHSs 

replaced existing health service districts from 1 July 2012.

Hospital-in-the-home: provision of care to hospital-

admitted patients in their place of residence, as 

a substitute for hospital accommodation.

Incidence: number of new cases of a condition occurring 

within a given population, over a certain period of time.

Inpatient: a patient who undergoes a hospital’s 

formal admission proves to received treatment and/

or care. This treatment and/or care is provided over a 

period of time and can occur in hospital and/or in the 

person’s home (for hospital-in-the-home patients).

Life expectancy: an indication of how long a 

person can expect to live. Technically it is the 

number of years of life remaining to a person at 

a particular age if death rates do not change.
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Long wait: a ‘long wait’ elective surgery patient is one 

who has waited longer than the clinically recommended 

time for their surgery, according to the clinical urgency 

category assigned. That is, more than 30 days for a 

category 1 patient, more than 90 days for a category 2 

patient and more than 365 days for a category 3 patient.

Medicare Locals: established by the Commonwealth 

to coordinate primary health care services across 

all providers in a geographic area. Will work closely 

with HHSs to identify and address local health 

needs. Selected and funded by the Commonwealth 

and rolled out progressively from 1 July 2011.

Medical practitioner: a person who is registered with 

the Medical Board of Australia to practice medicine in 

Australia, including general and specialist practitioners.

Models of care: a model of care outlines best 

practice patient care delivery through the application 

of a set of service principles across identified 

clinical streams and patient flow continuums. An 

overarching design or description of how care is 

managed and organised within the system.

Never events: inexcusable actions in a health care setting.

Non-admitted patient: a patient who does not 

undergo a hospital’s formal admission process.

Non-admitted patient services: an examination, 

consultation, treatment or other service 

provided to a non-admitted patient in a 

functional unit of a health service facility.

Nurse practitioner: a registered nurse educated and 

authorised to function autonomously and collaboratively 

in an advanced and extended clinical role. The nurse 

practitioner role includes assessing and managing 

clients using nursing knowledge and skills and 

may include, but is not limited to, direct referral of 

clients to other healthcare professionals, prescribing 

medications, and ordering diagnostic investigations.

Outpatient: a non-admitted health service 

provided or accessed by an individual at a 

hospital or health service facility.

Outpatient service: examination, consultation, 

treatment or other service provided to non-admitted 

non-emergency patients in a speciality unit or under an 

organisational arrangement administered by a hospital.

Overnight-stay patient: a patient who is 

admitted to, and separated from, the hospital 

on different dates (not same-day patients).

Patient flow: optimal patient flow means the patient’s 

journey through the hospital system, be it planned or 

unplanned, happens in the safest, most streamlined 

and timely way to deliver good patient care.

Performance indicator: a measure that provides 

an ‘indication’ of progress towards achieving 

the organisation’s objectives usually has targets 

that define the level of performance expected 

against the performance indicator.

Population health: promotion of healthy lifestyles, 

prevention or early detection of illness or disease, 

prevention of injury and protection of health through 

organised population-based programs and strategies.

Private hospital: a private hospital or free-standing 

day hospital, and either a hospital owned by a for-

profit company or a non-profit organisation and 

privately funded through payment for medical services 

by patients or insurers patients admitted to private 

hospitals are treated by a doctor of their choice.

Public patient: a public patient is one who elects to 

be treated as a public patient, so cannot choose the 

doctor who treats them, or is receiving treatment 

in a private hospital under a contract arrangement 

with a public hospital or health authority.

Public hospital: public hospitals offer free 

diagnostic services, treatment, care and 

accommodation to eligible patients.

Registered nurse: an individual registered 

under national law to practice in the nursing 

profession as a nurse, other than as a student.
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Separation: term used to refer to an episode of care 

for an admitted patient, which can be a total hospital 

stay (from admission to discharge, transfer or death), 

or a portion of a hospital stay beginning or ending in 

a change of type of care (for example, from acute to 

rehabilitation). A separation also includes the process 

by which an admitted patient completes an episode of 

care either by being discharged, dying, transferring 

to another hospital or changing type of care.

Service delivery model: service delivery models are an 

adaptation of an organisation’s Model of Care and describes 

‘where’ and ‘how’ work is carried out. Service delivery 

models suit the local environment and resources to best 

meet the overarching organisational requirements.

Statutory bodies: a non-departmental government 

body, established under an Act of Parliament. 

Statutory bodies can include corporations, regulatory 

authorities and advisory committees/councils.

Sustainable: a health system that provides infrastructure, 

such as workforce, facilities and equipment, and is 

innovative and responsive to emerging needs, for example, 

research and monitoring within available resources.

Telehealth: delivery of health-related services and 

information via telecommunication technologies, including:

live, audio and or/video inter-active links for

clinical consultations and educational purposes

store-and-forward Telehealth, including digital

images, video, audio and clinical (stored) on

a client computer, then transmitted securely

(forwarded) to a clinic at another location where

they are studied by relevant specialists

teleradiology for remote reporting and

clinical advice for diagnostic images

telehealth services and equipment to

monitor people’s health in their home.

Triage category: urgency of a patient’s 

need for medical and nursing care.
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AASB Australian Accounting Standards Board

ABF Activity-Based Funding

ACHS Australian Council on Healthcare Standards 

ALOS Average Length of Stay

CALD Culturally and Linguistically Diverse 

CARU Clinical Access and Redesign Unit

CGU Clinical Governance Unit

CIMHA Consumer Integrated Mental Health Application

CPR Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation

CSCF Clinical Service Capability Framework

CT Computerised Tomography (scan)

ED Emergency Department

EDIS Emergency Department Information System

EMT Executive Management Team

ENT ear, nose and throat

EQuIP Evaluation Quality Improvement Program   

FTE Full-Time Equivalent

GP General Practitioner

GST Goods and Services Tax

HACC Home and Community Care

HBCIS Hospital Based Corporate Information System

HITH Hospital in the Home

HHS Hospital and Health Service 

HR Human Resources

HSCE Health Service Chief Executive

ISOH Information System Oral Health

IT Information Technology

KPI Key Performance Indicators

MOHRI Minimum Obligatory Human Resource Information

MRSA Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus

NEAT National Emergency Access Target

NEST National Elective Surgery Target

NGO Non-Government Organisation 

NHS National Health Service

OHS Occupational Health and Safety

ORMIS Operating Room Management Information System

POST Patient Off Stretcher Time

PRAISE Positive Responsive Actions in Safety Excellence

PTSS Patient Travel Subsidy Scheme

QAS Queensland Ambulance Service 

QHEPS Queensland Health Electronic Publishing Site

QHERS Queensland Health Enterprise Reporting System

QIP quality improvement program

SAP business management software

SWOT Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, Threats

VMO Visiting Medical Officer

WAU Weighted Activity Unit

WBHHS Wide Bay Hospital and Health Service  

Attachment 3: List of acronyms
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